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PART I:  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
ITEM 1   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
                             Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
                     Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 
                                (in thousands) 
                                  (unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                       March 31,                December 31, 
                                                                          2001                     2000* 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
                                                                                      
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
      Cash and cash equivalents                                              $114,689                 $110,155 
      Marketable securities - available-for-sale                              452,651                  472,025 
      Accounts receivable, net                                                 21,600                   35,022 
      Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                20,913                   30,693 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total current assets                                              609,853                  647,895 
 
Property and equipment, net                                                    95,836                   98,948 
Long-term investments                                                          47,584                   40,003 
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net                                      79,953                   82,944 
Deposits and other assets                                                      18,717                   17,030 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total assets                                                     $851,943                 $886,820 
                                                                =====================      =================== 
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities: 
      Accounts payable                                                       $  8,317                 $ 17,497 
      Accrued compensation                                                     11,644                   13,023 
      Accrued and other current liabilities                                    18,395                   23,036 
      Deferred revenue                                                         23,952                   22,756 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total current liabilities                                          62,308                   76,312 
 
Convertible subordinated notes                                                179,580                  187,814 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total liabilities                                                 241,888                  264,126 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
      Common stock                                                                 66                       66 
      Additional paid-in capital                                              690,297                  689,392 
      Deferred compensation                                                    (2,498)                  (2,773) 
      Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                            17,406                   20,913 
      Accumulated deficit                                                     (95,216)                 (84,904) 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total stockholders' equity                                        610,055                  622,694 
                                                                ---------------------      ------------------- 
            Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                       $851,943                 $886,820 
                                                                =====================      =================== 
 
 
* The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2000 has been derived 
from the audited financial statements at that date. 
 
                            See accompanying notes 
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                             Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
                     Consolidated Statements of Operations 
                   (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
                                  (unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                                     Three Months Ended 
                                                                                          March 31, 
                                                                      ---------------------------------------------- 
                                                                               2001                      2000 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
                                                                                           
Revenues                                                                          $ 51,121                  $ 40,754 
 
Costs and expenses: 
     Research and development                                                       55,959                    41,334 
     Selling, general and administrative                                            16,561                    14,821 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
Total costs and expenses                                                            72,520                    56,155 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
 
Loss from operations                                                               (21,399)                  (15,401) 
 
Interest and other income, net                                                       9,914                    10,404 
Interest expense                                                                    (2,610)                   (1,897) 
Loss on certain derivative financial instruments                                      (627)                        - 
Losses from joint venture                                                                -                    (1,283) 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
Loss before income taxes, extraordinary item and accounting change                 (14,722)                   (8,177) 
 
Provision for income taxes                                                             255                         - 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
Loss before extraordinary item and accounting change                               (14,977)                   (8,177) 
 
Extraordinary gain, net of taxes                                                     2,386                         - 
Cumulative effect of accounting change                                               2,279                         - 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
Net loss                                                                          $(10,312)                 $ (8,177) 
                                                                      ====================      ==================== 
 
Per share data: 
       Loss before extraordinary item and accounting change                       $  (0.23)                   $(0.13) 
       Extraordinary gain, net of taxes                                               0.04                         - 
       Cumulative effect of accounting change                                         0.03                         - 
                                                                      --------------------      -------------------- 
       Basic and diluted net loss per share                                       $  (0.16)                   $(0.13) 
                                                                      ====================      ==================== 
 
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share                       65,745                    60,612 
                                                                      ====================      ==================== 
 
 
                            See accompanying notes 
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                             Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
            Consolidated Statements Of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
                                (in thousands) 
                                  (unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                           Three Months Ended 
                                                                                  March 31, 
                                                                --------------------------------------------- 
                                                                       2001                      2000 
                                                                -------------------      -------------------- 
                                                                                    
Net loss                                                                   $(10,312)                  $(8,177) 
 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes: 
     Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities                      (3,519)                   22,830 
     Foreign currency translation adjustments                                    12                         2 
                                                                -------------------      -------------------- 
Other comprehensive income (loss)                                            (3,507)                   22,832 
                                                                -------------------      -------------------- 
Comprehensive income (loss)                                                $(13,819)                  $14,655 
                                                                ===================      ==================== 
 
 
                            See accompanying notes 
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                             Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
                     Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
                                (in thousands) 
                                  (unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                             Three Months Ended 
                                                                                   March 31, 
                                                                    ------------------------------------------ 
                                                                            2001                    2000 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
                                                                                       
Cash flows from operating activities: 
     Net loss                                                                $ (10,312)              $  (8,177) 
     Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by 
         operating activities: 
         Depreciation and amortization                                          12,604                   8,114 
         Extraordinary item, debt extinguishment                                (2,386)                      - 
         Cumulative effect of accounting change                                 (2,279)                      - 
         Loss on certain derivative financial instruments                          627                       - 
         Losses in joint venture                                                     -                   1,283 
         Gain on sale of long-term investment                                     (333)                 (5,417) 
         Changes in certain assets and liabilities: 
              Accounts receivable                                               13,422                  12,240 
              Prepaid expenses and other assets                                  6,402                  (7,684) 
              Accounts payable                                                  (9,180)                  5,402 
              Accrued and other current liabilities                             (5,881)                   (275) 
              Deferred revenue                                                   1,196                  11,633 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
Net cash provided by operating activities                                        3,880                  17,119 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
     Long-term investments                                                     (12,519)                      - 
     Proceeds from the sale of long-term investments                               477                   5,417 
     Capital expenditures                                                       (4,880)                (12,490) 
     Purchases of marketable securities                                       (389,626)               (247,851) 
     Sales and maturities of marketable securities                             411,927                  11,298 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities                              5,379                (243,626) 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
     Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options                              905                  20,972 
     Proceeds from issuance of common stock                                          -                 398,290 
     Proceeds from the issuance of Convertible Subordinated Notes, 
      net                                                                            -                 196,800 
     Repurchase of Convertible Subordinated Notes                               (5,642)                      - 
     Repayment of receivable from stockholder                                        -                      20 
     Principal payments on capital lease obligations and note 
      payable                                                                        -                    (463) 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities                             (4,737)                615,619 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
 
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents                                12                       2 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents                                        4,534                 389,114 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                               110,155                  32,220 
                                                                    ------------------      ------------------ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                   $ 114,689               $ 421,334 
                                                                    ==================      ================== 
 
 
                            See accompanying notes 
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                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
                  NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                                March 31, 2001 
                                  (Unaudited) 
 
1.  Organization and business 
 
     Incyte Genomics, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in Delaware in April 
1991 under the name Incyte Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In June 2000, the Company's 
stockholders approved an amendment to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation 
to change the Company's name to Incyte Genomics, Inc. The Company designs, 
develops, and markets genomic information including database products, genomic 
data management software tools, microarray-based gene expression services and 
genomic reagents and related services. The Company's genomic databases integrate 
bioinformatics software with proprietary and, when appropriate, publicly 
available genetic information to create information used by pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies and academic researchers to understand disease and to 
discover and develop drugs. The Company is also engaged in its own internal 
disease pathway and therapeutic drug discovery programs. 
 
2.  Basis of presentation 
 
     The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States for interim financial information and with the instructions to 
Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. The condensed consolidated balance 
sheet as of March 31, 2001, statements of operations for the three months ended 
March 31, 2001 and 2000, statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the three 
months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000 and the statements of cash flows for the 
three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000 are unaudited, but include all 
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) which the Company 
considers necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, operating 
results and cash flows for the periods presented. The balance sheet at December 
31, 2000 has been derived from audited financial statements. 
 
     Although the Company believes that the disclosures in these financial 
statements are adequate to make the information presented not misleading, 
certain information and footnote information normally included in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
     Results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results 
for any future interim period or for the entire year. The accompanying financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes 
thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2000. 
 
3.  Property and equipment 
 
          Property and equipment consisted of: 
 
 
 
 
                                                                             March 31,                 December 31, 
                                                                               2001                       2000 
                                                                      ---------------------      --------------------- 
                                                                                            
          Office equipment                                                         $  5,402                   $  5,308 
          Laboratory equipment                                                       33,173                     32,286 
          Computer equipment                                                         95,795                     93,136 
          Leasehold improvements                                                     50,099                     48,924 
                                                                      ---------------------      --------------------- 
                                                                                    184,469                    179,654 
          Less accumulated depreciation and amortization                            (88,633)                   (80,706)
                                                                      ---------------------      --------------------- 
                                                                                   $ 95,836                   $ 98,948 
                                                                      =====================      ===================== 
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4.  Convertible subordinated notes 
 
     In February 2000, in a private placement, the Company issued $200.0 million 
of convertible subordinated notes, which resulted in net proceeds of 
approximately $196.8 million. The notes bear interest at 5.5%, payable semi- 
annually on February 1 and August 1, and are due February 1, 2007. The notes are 
subordinated to all senior indebtedness, as defined. The notes can be converted 
at the option of the holder at an initial conversion price of $67.42 per share, 
subject to adjustment. The Company may, at its option, redeem the notes at any 
time before February 7, 2003, but only if the Company's stock price exceeds 150% 
of the conversion price for 20 trading days in a period of 30 consecutive 
trading days. On or after February 7, 2003 the Company may, at its option, 
redeem the notes at specific prices. Holders may require the Company to 
repurchase the notes upon a change in control, as defined. 
 
     In November 2000, the Company repurchased on the open market, and retired, 
$15.0 million in par value of the convertible subordinated notes. The Company 
recognized a gain of $3.1 million on the transactions, which was reported as an 
extraordinary gain in fiscal 2000. 
 
     In the first quarter of 2001, the Company repurchased on the open market, 
and retired, $8.0 million in par value of the convertible subordinated notes. 
The Company recognized a gain of $2.4 million, net of tax, on the transactions, 
which was reported as an extraordinary gain in fiscal 2001. 
 
5.  Revenue recognition 
 
     Revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed and 
determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. For database 
collaboration agreements, revenues are recognized evenly over the term of each 
agreement. Revenue is deferred for fees received before earned. Revenues from 
custom orders, such as reagents are recognized upon completion and delivery. 
Revenues from custom services are recognized upon completion. Revenue from gene 
expression microarray services includes: technology access fees, which are 
recognized ratably over the access term, and usage fees, which are recognized at 
the completion of key stages in the performance of the service in proportion to 
costs incurred. Generally, software revenue is allocated between license fees 
and maintenance fees, in accordance with SOP 97-2, with the license revenue 
being recognized upon installation, and maintenance fees recognized evenly over 
the maintenance term. 
 
     Revenues recognized from multiple elements contracts are allocated to each 
element of the arrangement based on the relative fair values of the elements. 
The determination of fair value of each element is based on objective evidence 
from historical sales of the individual element by us to other customers. If 
such evidence of fair value for each element of the arrangement does not exist, 
all revenue from the arrangement is deferred until such time that evidence of 
fair value does exist or until all elements of the arrangement are delivered. 
When contracts include non-monetary exchanges, the non-monetary transaction is 
determined using the fair values of the assets or services involved. 
 
6.  Loss per share 
 
     The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the 
basic and diluted net loss per share computations for the periods presented 
below. 
 
 
 
                                                                            Three Months Ended 
                                                                                  March 31, 
                                                                 ------------------------------------------- 
                                                                        2001                     2000 
                                                                 ------------------      ------------------- 
                                                                                    
Numerator: 
  Net loss                                                                 $(10,312)                 $(8,177) 
                                                                 ==================      =================== 
 
Denominator: 
  Denominator for basic and diluted net loss 
        Per share - weighted-average shares                                  65,745                   60,612 
 
 
Basic and diluted net loss per share                                       $  (0.16)                 $ (0.13) 
                                                                 ==================      =================== 
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     Options to purchase 9,199,344 and 8,474,792 shares of common stock were 
outstanding at March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and notes convertible into 
2,625,353 shares of common stock were outstanding at March 31, 2001, but were 
not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share, as their effect 
was antidilutive. 
 
7.  Business Combinations 
 
     In December 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Proteome, Inc., 
a privately held proteomics information company based in Beverly, Massachusetts. 
The Company issued 1,248,522 shares of its common stock and $37.7 million in 
cash in exchange for all of Proteome's outstanding capital stock. In addition, 
the Company assumed Proteome's stock options, which if fully vested and 
exercised, would amount to 216,953 shares of its common stock. The transaction 
was accounted for as a purchase. The amount of the purchase price in excess of 
the net tangible assets acquired of $70.8 million, was allocated to goodwill 
($50.3 million); database ($16.6 million); tradename ($1.7 million); Proteome's 
assembled work force ($1.6 million); and developed technology ($0.6 million), 
each of which is being amortized over 8, 8, 5, 3 and 3 years, respectively. 
 
     The Company allocated Proteome's purchase price based on the relative fair 
value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. In performing this 
allocation, the Company considered, among other factors, the technology research 
and development projects in process at the date of acquisition. The results of 
operations of Proteome have been included in the consolidated results of the 
Company from the date of acquisition on December 28, 2000. 
 
     The table below presents the pro forma results of operations and earnings 
per share for Proteome and the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2000 
assuming that the transaction was completed on January 1, 2000 (in thousands 
except per share data). 
 
 
 
 
                                                                     
      Pro forma revenues                                                           $ 41,420 
                                                                       ==================== 
      Pro forma net loss                                                           $(11,445) 
                                                                       ==================== 
 
      Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share                               $ ( 0.19) 
                                                                      ===================== 
      Pro forma shares for basic and diluted net loss per share                      61,861 
                                                                       ==================== 
 
 
8.  Joint venture 
 
     In September 1997, the Company formed a joint venture, diaDexus, LLC 
("diaDexus"), with SmithKline Beecham Corporation ("SB"), to utilize genomic and 
bioinformatic technologies in the discovery and commercialization of molecular 
diagnostics. The Company held a 50 percent equity interest in diaDexus and 
accounted for the investment under the equity method. In July 1999, the Company 
and SB each invested an additional $2.5 million in diaDexus through convertible 
notes. 
 
     On April 4, 2000, diaDexus obtained additional financing through a private 
equity offering. In connection with the offering, diaDexus converted from an LLC 
to a corporation and repaid in full the $2.5 million principal amount of, 
together with accrued interest on, the convertible note held by the Company. 
Under diaDexus' new capital structure, the Company no longer has the ability to 
exert significant influence over diaDexus. Accordingly, the Company accounts for 
its investment in diaDexus under the cost method of accounting from the date of 
this financing. 
 
     diaDexus purchased $0.6 million of contract sequencing, microarray and 
software services from the Company in the three months ended March 31, 2000. 
diaDexus did not make similar purchases in the same period in 2001. 
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9.  Segment reporting 
 
     The Company's operations are treated as one operating segment, in 
accordance with SFAS 131, the design, development, and marketing of genomic 
information-based tools, as it only reports profit and loss information on an 
aggregate basis to chief operating decision makers of the Company. For the three 
months ended March 31, 2001, the Company recorded revenue from customers 
throughout the United States and in Asia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, France, 
Germany, Israel, Netherlands, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. Export 
revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000 were $8,529,000  and 
$11,487,000, respectively. 
 
10.  New pronouncements 
 
     In June 1998, the FASB issued Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS 133"), as amended by SFAS Nos. 137 and 
138, which was required to be adopted in the first quarter of 2001. SFAS 133 
established standards for accounting and reporting derivative instruments and 
hedging activities. It requires companies to recognize all derivatives as either 
assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure these instruments at fair 
value. Derivatives that are not designated as hedges must be adjusted to fair 
value through income.  The Company adopted SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001 and 
recorded a $2.3 million gain, net of income tax expense, relating to the 
valuation of warrants held in other companies, which is recorded in the 
consolidated statements of operations as a Cumulative Effect of Accounting 
Change. The Company also recorded a loss of approximately $0.6 million related 
to the decrease during the first quarter in value of the same instruments 
subject to SFAS 133. 
 
11. Litigation 
 
     In January 1998, Affymetrix Inc, ("Affymetrix") filed a lawsuit in the 
United States District Court for the District of Delaware, which was 
subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of California in November 1998, alleging infringement of U.S. patent 
number 5,444,934 by the Company. The complaint alleges that the Company 
infringed the `934 patent by making, using, selling, importing, distributing or 
offering to sell in the United States high density arrays and that this 
infringement was willful. Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining the 
Company from further infringement of the `934 patent and, in addition, seeks 
damages, costs, attorneys' fees and interest. Affymetrix also requests triple 
damages based on its allegation of willful infringement by the Company. 
 
     In September 1998, Affymetrix filed an additional lawsuit in the United 
States District Court for the District of Delaware, which was subsequently 
transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern District of 
California in November 1998, alleging the Company infringed U.S. patent number 
5,800,992 and U.S. patent number 5,744,305. The complaint alleges that the 
Company infringed the `305 patent by making, using, selling, importing, 
distributing or offering to sell in the United States high density arrays. It 
also alleges that the Company infringed the `992 patent by using its GEM 
microarray technology to conduct gene expression monitoring and other 
applications using two-color labeling, and that this infringement was willful. 
Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining the Company from further 
infringement of the `305 and `992 patents, and in addition, seeks damages, 
costs, attorneys' fees and interest.  Affymetrix also requests triple damages 
based on the allegation of willful infringement. The court held a pretrial 
hearing in November 2000 to determine how to construe the patent claims that 
will be litigated in trial. In January 2001, the court issued a ruling 
describing how the claims in the `934, `305 and `992 patents should be 
interpreted.  The court requested additional briefing regarding one of the claim 
terms in the `992 patent and Affymetrix has sought reconsideration of the 
court's construction of two additional claim terms in the `992 patent.  The 
court has not yet issued any rulings based on the additional briefs. 
 
     Following issuance of the court's claim construction ruling, Incyte filed a 
motion for partial summary judgement that the Company's cDNA arrays do not 
infringe any claim of the `934 patent or claims 1 and 3 through 13 of the `305 
patent.  On May 2, 2001, the court granted summary judgement ruling that the 
Company's accused cDNA arrays do not infringe any claim of the `934 patent 
claims or claims 1 and 3 through 13 of the `305 patent. 
 
 
                                       10 



 
 
     In April 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences of the United 
States Patent and Trademark Office declared interferences between pending patent 
applications licensed exclusively to the Company and the Affymetrix `305 and 
`992 patents. The Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences invokes an 
interference proceeding when more than one patent applicant claims the same 
invention. During the proceeding, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences 
evaluates all relevant facts, including those bearing on first to invent, 
validity, enablement and scope of claims, and then makes a determination as to 
who, if anyone, is entitled to the patent on the disputed invention. In 
September 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences determined that 
the Company had not met its prima facie case, and ruled that the patents 
licensed by the Company from Stanford University were not entitled to priority 
over corresponding claims in the two Affymetrix patents. The Company is seeking 
de novo review of the Board's decisions in the United States District Court for 
the Northern District of California. 
 
     In August 2000, the Company filed a lawsuit against Affymetrix in federal 
court alleging infringement of U.S. patent numbers 5,716,785 and 5,891,636. The 
patents relate to technologies used in the amplification of RNA and the 
generation of gene expression information. Affymetrix has filed counterclaims in 
this lawsuit that allege, among other things, that the Company infringe U.S. 
patent number 6,040,193 and U.S. patent number 5,871,928. These counterclaims 
allege that the Company infringe these patents by making, using, offering to 
sell and/or selling within the United States the inventions claimed in the 
patents, including, in the case of the `193 patent, methods for forming 
microarrays and, in the case of the `928 patent, methods for analyzing nucleic 
acids. The counterclaims also allege that the Company engaged in acts of unfair 
competition under California statutory and common law. Affymetrix seeks a 
permanent injunction enjoining the Company from further infringement of the `193 
patent and `928 patent and, in addition, seeks damages, costs and attorneys' 
fees and interest. Affymetrix further requests triple damages from the 
infringement claims based on its allegation of willful infringement by the 
Company. 
 
     In December 1999 and August 2000, the Company filed lawsuits against Gene 
Logic Inc. in federal court alleging patent infringement. Gene Logic filed 
counterclaims alleging, among other things, that the Company committed acts of 
unfair competition under California statutory and common law. Gene Logic sought, 
among other things, damages, costs and attorneys' fees. In January 2001, the 
Company reached a litigation settlement with Gene Logic pursuant to which the 
lawsuits were dismissed, and Gene Logic will have a non-exclusive license to 
practice the technology described in the patents. 
 
     The Company believes it has meritorious defenses and intends to vigorously 
defend the suits and counterclaims brought by Affymetrix. However, the Company's 
defenses may be unsuccessful. At this time, the Company cannot reasonably 
estimate the possible range of any loss resulting from these suits and 
counterclaims due to uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome. Regardless of 
the outcome, the Affymetrix litigation has resulted and is expected to continue 
to result in substantial expenses and diversion of the efforts of our management 
and technical personnel. Further, there can be no assurance that any license 
that may be required as a result of this litigation or the outcome thereof would 
be made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. This litigation 
may also affect our potential customers' willingness to use our microarray 
services and gene expression databases, which could adversely affect the 
Company's revenue. 
 
12. Related party transactions 
 
     In March 2001, the Company entered into a LifeSeq Collaboration Agreement, 
Patent License Agreement, Collaboration and Technology Transfer Agreement and 
Proteome BioKnowledge Library License Agreement with Genomic Health, Inc. 
("Genomic Health"). Randal W. Scott, Chairman of the Board of the Company, is 
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Genomic Health 
and owns more than 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Genomic Health. 
Under the agreements, Genomic Health obtained access to the Company's LifeSeq 
Gold database and BioKnowledge Library and received licenses to certain of the 
Company's intellectual property.  Amounts Genomic Health will pay the Company 
under these agreements are similar to those paid to the Company under agreements 
between the Company and unrelated third party customers.  The Company received 
rights to certain intellectual property that Genomic Health may, in the future, 
develop. At the same time, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase 
shares of Series C Preferred Stock of Genomic Health for an aggregate purchase 
price of $5.0 million which, together with shares of Series A Preferred Stock 
purchased 
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in November 2000 for an aggregate purchase price of $1.0 million, results in the 
Company owning approximately 10.9% of the outstanding capital stock of Genomic 
Health. Under certain circumstances and if Genomic Health so elects, the Company 
has agreed to purchase in a future offering of Genomic Health's capital stock an 
aggregate of $5.0 million of the shares being sold in that offering. 
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PART I:  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
ITEM 2 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
               OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
     This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations as of March 31, 2001 and for the three month periods ended 
March 31, 2001 and 2000 should be read in conjunction with the unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto set forth in Item 
1 of this report and the section entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the Company's Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000. 
 
     When used in this Report, the words "expects," "anticipates," "estimates," 
"plans," "believes," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward- 
looking statements. These are statements that relate to future periods and 
include statements as to the Company's expected net losses, expected expenditure 
levels and rate of growth of expenditures, expected cash flows, the adequacy of 
capital resources, growth in operations, expected revenues and sources of 
revenues, the ability to commercialize products developed under collaborations 
and alliances, our ability to complete the sequence of full-length genes in 
areas of therapeutic interest and file patents on these potential drug targets, 
our ability to integrate companies, operations and their products that we have 
acquired or will acquire, the scheduling and timing of current and future 
litigation, our investments in our intellectual property portfolio, our strategy 
with regard to protecting our proprietary technology, our investments in, and 
the success of, our drug target identification and validation efforts, our 
investment in new products and services, the success of our custom genomic 
products and services, our ability to compete and respond to rapid technological 
change, our intention not to develop pharmaceutical products, our competitive 
advantage as to the annotation of the human proteome, the effect of government 
regulation, our compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, 
the adequacy of our current facilities and our ability to locate additional 
facilities at reasonable rates, our exposure to foreign currency rate 
fluctuations, products and services under development, and the performance, 
content and utility of our products and services. Forward-looking statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are 
not limited to, those risks discussed below, as well as the extent to which the 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries use genomic information in research 
and development, risks relating to development of new products and services and 
their use by our potential customers and collaborators, our ability to develop 
and commercialize products to improve human health, our ability to work with our 
collaborators to meet the goals of our collaborators and alliances, our ability 
to retain and obtain customers, the cost of accessing or acquiring technologies 
or intellectual property, the effectiveness of our sequencing efforts, the 
effectiveness of our target validation and drug discovery efforts, impairment of 
the value of the securities underlying equity investments that we hold, the 
impact of alternative technological advances and competition, changes to our 
business plan, changes in consumer demand for our products, our success in 
negotiating future licensing transactions, the development of new partnering and 
collaborative relationships,  uncertainties associated with changes in patent 
laws and developments in and expenses related to litigation and interference 
proceedings; and the matters discussed in "Factors that May Affect Results." 
These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. The Company 
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any 
updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to 
reflect any change in the Company's expectations with regard thereto or any 
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is 
based. 
 
     In the sections of this report entitled "Business" and "Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-- 
Factors That May Affect Results," all references to "Incyte," "we," "us," "our" 
or the "Company" mean Incyte Genomics, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 
 
     Incyte, LifeSeq and BioKnowledge are our registered trademarks. LifeExpress 
and GEM are our trademarks. We also refer to trademarks of other corporations 
and organizations in this document. 
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Overview 
 
     Incyte Genomics, Inc. ("Incyte" or the "Company") designs, develops and 
markets genomic information-based products and services. These products and 
services include database products, microarray-based gene expression services 
and SNP discovery services, genomic reagents, and related services. The 
Company's genomic databases integrate bioinformatics software with proprietary 
and, when appropriate, publicly available genetic information to create 
information-based products and services used by pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
companies and academic researchers to understand disease and to discover and 
develop drugs.  The Company is also engaged in its own internal disease pathway 
and therapeutic drug discovery programs. 
 
     In July 2000, the Company's board of directors approved a two-for-one stock 
split in the form of a stock dividend. Incyte stockholders of record on August 
7, 2000 received one additional share for each share of common stock held at the 
time. The additional shares were distributed to eligible stockholders on August 
31, 2000. All share and per share data have been adjusted retroactively to 
reflect the split. 
 
     Revenues recognized by the Company consist primarily of non-exclusive 
database access fees related to database agreements, gene product and database 
related license fees, the sales of genomic screening products and services, fees 
for contract sequencing services, fees for research programs, and fees for 
microarray-based gene expression services. The Company's database agreements 
provide for future milestone payments and royalties from the sale of products 
derived from proprietary information obtained through the databases. There can 
be no assurance that any database subscriber will ever generate products from 
information contained within the databases and, thus, that the Company will ever 
receive additional milestone payments or royalties. The Company's ability to 
maintain and increase revenues depends on its ability to obtain additional 
database subscribers, to retain existing subscribers, to maintain adequate price 
levels, to expand its product and service offerings and to expand its customer 
base. The loss of revenues from any individual database agreement, if terminated 
or not renewed, could have an adverse impact on the Company's results of 
operations, although it is not anticipated to have a material adverse impact on 
the Company's business or financial condition. 
 
     In 2001, the Company intends to make significant investments focused on the 
further development of its intellectual property portfolio and its internal 
disease pathway and therapeutic drug discovery programs. Depending on the 
investment required and the timing of such investments, expenses or losses 
related to these investments could adversely affect operating results. In 
addition to its investments in these areas, the Company is continuing to invest 
in its identification and characterization of full length genes, SNP discovery, 
proteomics and protein annotation, increasing content in the database products, 
and bioinformatics in 2001. As a result, the Company expects to report a net 
loss at least through 2001. If the costs of these new and existing programs are 
greater than anticipated, or if these programs take longer to complete, or if 
losses are incurred from strategic investments, the Company may incur losses in 
future periods as well. 
 
     In December 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Proteome, Inc., 
a privately held proteomics database company. The Company issued 1,248,522 
shares of its common stock and $37.7 million in cash in exchange for all of 
Proteome's outstanding capital stock. In addition, the Company assumed 
Proteome's stock options, which if fully vested and exercised, would amount to 
216,953 shares of its common stock. The fair value of the stock options assumed 
were allocated between additional purchase price and deferred compensation in 
accordance with guidance provided by the Financial Accounting Standards Board's 
Interpretation No. 44. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase. The 
amount of the purchase price in excess of net tangible assets acquired of 
approximately $70.8 million was allocated to goodwill ($50.3 million), database 
($16.6 million), developed technology ($0.6 million), tradename ($1.7 million), 
and assembled workforce ($1.6 million), which are being amortized over 8, 8, 5, 
3 and 3 years, respectively. The Company evaluates its intangible assets for 
impairment on a quarterly basis. 
 
     The Company has made and intends to continue to make strategic equity 
investments in, and acquisitions of, technologies and businesses that are 
complementary to the businesses of the Company. As a result, the Company may 
record losses or expenses related to the Company's proportionate ownership 
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interest in such long-term equity investments, record charges for the 
acquisition of in-process technologies, or record charges for the recognition of 
the impairment in the value of the securities underlying such investments. 
 
     The Company has incurred and may continue to incur substantial expenses in 
its defense of the lawsuits filed in January and September 1998 by Affymetrix, 
Inc. ("Affymetrix") alleging patent infringement by the Company and in the 
lawsuits filed by the Company against Affymetrix in August 2000. 
 
     In its lawsuits against the Company, Affymetrix seeks a permanent 
injunction enjoining the Company from further infringement of certain Affymetrix 
patents. In addition, Affymetrix seeks damages, costs, attorneys' fees and 
interest. Affymetrix further requests that any such damages be tripled on its 
allegation of willful infringement by the Company. 
 
     In August 2000, the Company filed a patent infringement suit against 
Affymetrix in the United States Court for the Northern District of California. 
The suit alleges infringement of the U.S. Patent Numbers 5,716,785 and 
5,891,636. These patents cover key technologies used in the creation of gene 
expression data. 
 
     With respect to the lawsuits filed by the Company, Affymetrix has filed 
counterclaims against the Company. See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 
     The Company believes it has meritorious defenses and intends to defend 
these suits and counterclaims vigorously. However, there can be no assurance 
that the Company will be successful in the defense of these suits. At this time, 
the Company cannot reasonably estimate the possible range of any loss related to 
these suits and counterclaims due to uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome. 
Regardless of the outcome, this litigation has resulted and is expected to 
continue to result in substantial expenses and diversion of the efforts of 
management and technical personnel. Any future litigation could result in 
similar expenses and diversion of efforts. Further, there can be no assurance 
that any license that may be required as a result of these suits and 
counterclaims or the outcome thereof would be made available on commercially 
acceptable terms, if at all. 
 
Results of Operations 
 
     Net loss and diluted net loss per share were $10.3 million and $0.16, 
respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2001, as compared to $8.2 
million and $0.13, respectively, in the same period a year ago. Loss before 
extraordinary item and cumulative effect of accounting change for the three 
months ended March 31, 2001 was $15.0 million, or $0.23 per diluted share. Basic 
and diluted net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2001 was 
impacted by the issuance of 1,248,522 shares of common stock in the Proteome 
acquisition.  Diluted net loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 
2001 and 2000 was impacted by a private equity offering of 4,000,000 shares of 
common stock in February 2000. 
 
     Revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2001 increased to $51.1 
million compared to $40.8 million for the corresponding period in 2000. Revenues 
resulted primarily from database access fees, gene product royalty and license 
fees, microarray-based gene expression services, genomic screening products and 
services, fees for contract sequencing, and fees from partnering programs. The 
increase in revenues was primarily attributable to the focus of our sales, 
marketing and business development efforts to expand our customer base and 
leverage our intellectual property portfolio, revenues from partner programs, as 
well as increased revenues from custom genomics products and services. 
 
     Total costs and expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2001 
increased to $72.5 million compared to $56.2 million for the corresponding 
period in 2000. Total costs and expenses are expected to increase in the 
foreseeable future due to our continuing investment in new products and 
services, including internal disease pathway and therapeutic drug discovery 
programs, and additional costs associated with Proteome operations. 
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     Research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2001 
increased to $56.0 million compared to $41.3 million for the corresponding 
period in 2000. The increase in research and development expenses resulted 
primarily from an increase in bioinformatics and software development efforts, 
SNP discovery efforts, licensing royalties, goodwill amortization related to the 
Proteome acquisition, and an increase in internal disease pathway and 
therapeutic drug discovery programs. The Company expects research and 
development spending to increase as the Company continues to pursue the 
development of new database products and services, including Proteome's 
proteomic database, and as the Company expands its internal disease pathway and 
therapeutic drug discovery programs. 
 
     Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended 
March 31, 2001 increased to $16.6 million compared to $14.8 million for the 
corresponding period in 2000. The increase in selling, general and 
administrative expenses resulted primarily from the growth in the Company's 
sales and marketing function and increased personnel to support the growing 
complexity of the Company's operations. The Company's selling, general and 
administrative expenses were also impacted by legal expenses related to the 
Company's patent infringement lawsuits with Affymetrix and GeneLogic of 
approximately $1.9 million and $1.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 
2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company expects that total selling, general and 
administrative expenses will continue to increase due to the expenses to support 
the growing complexity of the Company's operations. 
 
     Interest and other income, net for the three months ended March 31, 2001, 
decreased to $9.9 million from $10.4 million for the corresponding period in 
2000. This decrease was primarily due to the $5.4 million gain from the exercise 
and sale of a warrant in a long-term strategic investment in 2000, partly offset 
by increased interest income due to higher average cash balances in 2001 from 
the Company's convertible subordinated note and private equity offerings in 
February 2000. 
 
     Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2001 increased to 
$2.6 million from $1.9 million for the corresponding period in 2000. The 
increase was due to the interest expense associated with the Company's 
convertible subordinated notes issued in February 2000, resulting in a full 
quarter of interest in 2001. 
 
     Loss on certain derivative financial instruments for the three months ended 
March 31, 2001 represents the change in fair value during the quarter of certain 
long-term investments in accordance with SFAS 133. 
 
     Losses from joint venture represents the Company's share of diaDexus' 
losses from operations. The Company incurred no losses from joint venture for 
the three months ended March 31, 2001 compared to $1.3 million for the 
corresponding period in 2000. Beginning on April 4, 2000, the Company accounted 
for its investment in diaDexus under the cost method of accounting as it no 
longer had significant influence over diaDexus and therefore did not reflect any 
portion of diaDexus' results of operations in the Company's statement of 
operations in the three months ended March 31, 2001. 
 
     Provision for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2001 
primarily related to foreign withholding taxes.  The Company had no such taxes 
in the corresponding period in 2000. 
 
     Extraordinary gain, net, resulted from the Company's repurchase of $8.0 
million face value of its 5.5% convertible subordinated notes on the open market 
in the first quarter of 2001.  The repurchases resulted in a gain of $2.4 
million, net of taxes. 
 
     The Cumulative Effect of an Accounting Change resulted from the adoption of 
SFAS 133 in the first quarter of 2001.  The Company recorded the fair value of 
its warrants in certain long-term strategic investments at January 1, 2001, 
resulting in a gain of $2.3 million. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
     As of March 31, 2001, the Company had $567.3 million in cash, cash 
equivalents and marketable securities, compared to $582.2 million as of December 
31, 2000. The Company has classified all of its marketable securities as short- 
term, as the Company may choose not to hold its marketable securities until 
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maturity in order to take advantage of favorable market conditions. Available 
cash is invested in accordance with the Company's investment policy's primary 
objectives of liquidity, safety of principal and diversity of investments. 
 
     Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.9 million for the three 
months ended March 31, 2001, as compared to $17.1 million for the three months 
ended March 31, 2000. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities in 2001 and lower increase in deferred revenues 
in 2001 as compared to 2000. These changes were partially offset by the larger 
decrease in accounts receivable in 2000 as compared to 1999 and the decrease in 
prepaid expenses in 2000. Net cash generated by operating activities may 
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter due to the timing of large 
prepayments by database collaborators. 
 
     In February 2000, in a private placement, the Company issued $200.0 million 
of convertible subordinated notes, which resulted in net proceeds of 
approximately $196.8 million. The notes bear interest at 5.5%, payable semi- 
annually on February 1 and August 1, and are due February 1, 2007. The notes are 
subordinated to senior indebtedness, as defined. The notes can be converted at 
the option of the holder at an initial conversion price of $67.42 per share, 
subject to adjustment. The Company may redeem the notes at any time before 
February 7, 2003, only if the Company's stock exceeds 150% of the conversion 
price for 20 trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days. On or 
after February 7, 2003 the Company may redeem the notes at specific prices. 
Holders may require the Company to repurchase the notes upon a change in 
control, as defined.  As of March 31, 2001, the Company had repurchased $23.0 
million face value of the notes on the open market. 
 
     In February 2000, in a private placement, the Company issued 4,000,000 
shares of its common stock at a price of $105.50 per share, resulting in net 
proceeds of $403.4 million. 
 
     The Company's investing activities, other than purchases, sales and 
maturities of marketable securities, have consisted predominantly of capital 
expenditures and net purchases of long-term investments. Capital expenditures 
for the three months ended March 31, 2001 were $4.9 million as compared to $12.5 
million in the same period in 2000, primarily due to the timing of capital 
purchases. Long-term investments in companies with which the Company has 
research and development agreements were $12.5 million for the three months 
ended March 31, 2001. In the future, net cash used by investing activities may 
fluctuate significantly from period to period due to the timing of strategic 
equity investments, capital expenditures and maturity/sales and purchases of 
marketable securities. 
 
     Net cash used by financing activities was $4.7 million for the three months 
ended March 31, 2001 as compared to net cash provided of $615.6 million for the 
three months ended March 31, 2000. The Company repurchased $8.0 million face 
value of its 5.5% convertible subordinated notes on the open market for $5.6 
million in 2001. The 2000 activity included the issuance of common stock in a 
private equity offering resulting in net proceeds of $403.4 million, the net 
proceeds from the issuance of 5.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes of $196.8 
million, and the proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options of $21.0 
million. 
 
     The Company expects to use net cash in 2001 as it: invests in its internal 
disease pathway and therapeutic drug discovery programs, intellectual property 
portfolio, sequencing, bioinformatics, and SNP discovery programs; invests in 
data-processing-related computer hardware to support its existing and new 
database products and to enable the on-line delivery of those products; 
continues to seek access to technologies through investments, research and 
development alliances, license agreements and/or acquisitions; makes strategic 
investments; and continues to make improvements in existing facilities. 
 
     Based upon its current plans, the Company believes that its existing 
resources will be adequate to satisfy its capital needs for at least the next 
twelve months. The Company's cash requirements depend on numerous factors, 
including the ability of the Company to attract and retain collaborators for its 
databases and other products and services; expenditures in connection with 
alliances, license agreements and acquisitions of and investments in 
complementary technologies and businesses; expenditures in connection with its 
expansion of internal disease pathway and therapeutic drug discovery programs; 
competing 
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technological and market developments; the cost of filing, prosecuting, 
defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights; 
the purchase of additional capital equipment, including capital equipment 
necessary to ensure the Company's sequencing and microarray operations remain 
competitive; capital expenditures required to expand the Company's facilities; 
and costs associated with the integration of new operations assumed through 
mergers and acquisitions. Changes in the Company's research and development 
plans or other changes affecting the Company's operating expenses may result in 
changes in the timing and amount of expenditures of the Company's capital 
resources. 
 
Euro Conversion 
 
     A single currency called the euro was introduced in Europe on January 1, 
1999. Eleven of the fifteen member countries of the European Union agreed to 
adopt the euro as their common legal currency on that date. Fixed conversion 
rates between these participating countries' existing currencies (the "legacy 
currencies") and the euro were established as of that date. The legacy 
currencies are scheduled to remain legal tender as denominations of the euro 
until at least January 1, 2002, but not later than July 1, 2002. During this 
transition period, parties may settle transactions using either the euro or a 
participating country's legal currency. The Company will evaluate the impact of 
the euro conversion on its computer and financial systems, business processes, 
market risk, and price competition. The Company does not expect this conversion 
to have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position or 
cash flows. 
 
 
                        FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT RESULTS 
 
We have had only limited periods of profitability, we expect to incur losses in 
the future and we may not return to profitability 
 
     We had net losses from inception in 1991 through 1996 and again incurred 
net losses in 1999 through the three months ended March 31, 2001. Because of 
those losses, we had an accumulated deficit of $95.2 million as of March 31, 
2001. We intend to continue to spend significant amounts on new product and 
technology development, including therapeutic drug discovery and development 
programs and making our products available online, and to increase our 
investment in marketing, sales and customer service. The amounts we intend to 
spend on new product and technology development include spending for our efforts 
to determine the sequence of genes, or genomic sequencing, determine gene 
functions, develop database and software products such as our gene expression 
database, discover SNPs, expand research and development alliances, and develop 
electronic commerce products. As a result, we expect to incur losses in 2001. We 
may report net losses in future periods as well. We will not return to 
profitability unless we increase our revenues or reduce our expenses. 
 
To generate significant revenues, we must obtain additional database 
collaborators and retain existing collaborators 
 
     As of March 31, 2001, we had over 30 database agreements. If we are unable 
to enter into additional agreements, or if our current database collaborators 
choose not to renew their agreements upon expiration, we may not generate 
additional revenues or maintain our current revenues. Our database revenues are 
also affected by the extent to which existing collaborators expand their 
agreements with us to include our new database products and the extent to which 
existing collaborators reduce the number of products or services for which they 
subscribe, the impact of which will vary based upon our pricing of those 
products and services. Some of our database agreements require us to meet 
performance obligations, some or all of which we may not be successful in 
attaining. A database collaborator can terminate its agreement before the end of 
its scheduled term if we breach the agreement and fail to cure the breach within 
a specified period. 
 
Our longer-term strategy for profitability includes licenses under our gene- 
related intellectual property, but these licenses may not contribute to revenues 
for several years, and may never result in revenues 
 
     Part of our strategy is to license to database collaborators and to some of 
our other customers our 
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know-how and patent rights associated with the genetic information in our 
proprietary databases, for use in the discovery and development of potential 
pharmaceutical, diagnostic or other products. Any potential product that is the 
subject of such a license will require several years of further development, 
clinical testing and regulatory approval before commercialization. Therefore, 
milestone or royalty payments from these collaborations may not contribute to 
revenues for several years, if at all. 
 
We may not be able to generate significant growth in revenue if we are not able 
to generate significant revenues from our custom genomic products and services 
 
     We expect that our custom genomic products and services will become a 
greater percentage of our revenues. Whether this occurs, and whether these 
products and services will generate significant revenues, depends on our ability 
to increase our customer base, increase sales to existing customers, and 
increase our production capacity in a timely manner and with consistent volumes 
and quality to meet the increased demand. 
 
Our operating results are difficult to predict, which may cause our stock price 
to decline and result in losses to investors 
 
    Our operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctuate 
significantly from period to period, which may cause our stock price to decline 
and result in losses to investors. Some of the factors that could cause our 
operating results to fluctuate include: 
 
   . changes in the demand for our products and services, including our 
     database business; 
 
   . the introduction of competitive databases or services, including databases 
     of publicly available, or public domain, genetic information; 
 
   . the nature, pricing and timing of products and services provided to our 
     collaborators; 
 
   . acquisition, licensing and other costs related to the expansion of our 
     operations, including operating losses of acquired businesses; 
 
   . losses and expenses related to our investments in joint ventures and 
     businesses; 
 
   . regulatory developments or changes in public perceptions relating to the 
     use of genetic information and the diagnosis and treatment of disease 
     based on genetic information; 
 
   . changes in intellectual property laws that affect our rights in genetic 
     information that we sell; 
 
   . payments of milestones, license fees or research payments under the terms 
     of our increasing number of external alliances; and 
 
   . expenses related to, and the results of, litigation and other proceedings 
     relating to intellectual property rights, including the lawsuits filed by 
     Affymetrix and counterclaims filed by Affymetrix. 
 
     We have significant fixed expenses, due in part to our need to continue to 
invest in product development and extensive support for our database 
collaborators. We may be unable to adjust our expenditures if revenues in a 
particular period fail to meet our expectations, which would harm our operating 
results for that period. Forecasting operating and integration expenses for 
acquired businesses may be particularly difficult, especially where the acquired 
business focuses on technologies that do not have an established market. We 
believe that period-to-period comparisons of our financial results will not 
necessarily be meaningful. You should not rely on these comparisons as an 
indication of our future performance. If our operating results in any future 
period fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, our 
stock price will likely fall, possibly by a significant amount. 
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Our industry is intensely competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our 
revenues may decline 
 
     We compete in markets that are new, intensely competitive, rapidly 
changing, and fragmented. Many of our current and potential competitors have 
greater financial, human and other resources than we do. If we cannot respond 
quickly to changing customer requirements, secure intellectual property 
positions, or adapt quickly and obtain access to new and emerging technologies, 
our revenues may decline. Our competitors include: 
 
   . Affymetrix, Inc., 
 
   . Celera Genomics Group of Applera Corporation, 
 
   . CuraGen Corporation, 
 
   . Gene Logic Inc., 
 
   . Human Genome Sciences, Inc., 
 
   . Invitrogen Corporation, 
 
   . Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
 
   . major pharmaceutical companies, and 
 
   . universities and other research institutions, including The SNP Consortium, 
     which is funded by a number of pharmaceutical companies, and those 
     receiving funding from the federally funded Human Genome Project. 
 
     The human genome contains a finite number of genes. Our competitors may 
seek to identify, sequence and determine the biological function of numerous 
genes in order to obtain a proprietary position with respect to new genes. 
 
     In addition, we face competition from companies who are developing and may 
seek to develop new technologies for discovering the functions of genes, gene 
expression information, including microarray technologies, discovery of 
variations among genes and related technologies. Also, if we are unable to 
obtain the technology we currently use or new advanced technology on acceptable 
terms, but other companies are, we will be unable to compete. 
 
     We also face competition from providers of software. A number of companies 
have announced their intent to develop and market software to assist 
pharmaceutical companies and academic researchers in managing and analyzing 
their own genomic data and publicly available data. If pharmaceutical companies 
and researchers are able to manage their own genomic data, they may not 
subscribe to our databases. 
 
     Extensive research efforts resulting in rapid technological progress 
characterize the genomics industry. To remain competitive, we must continue to 
expand our databases, improve our software, and invest in new technologies. New 
developments will probably continue, and discoveries by others may render our 
services and potential products noncompetitive. 
 
Our new investments in validating drug targets will lead to increased expenses 
and may not result in commercial products or services 
 
     We have recently decided to further invest in validating drug targets 
associated with diseases that may be linked to several or many genes working in 
combination. The process of discovering drugs based upon genomics is new and 
evolving rapidly, and we have limited experience in discovering or developing 
drugs. These efforts will result in increased expenses and may not result in 
commercial products or services. There is limited scientific understanding 
generally relating to the role of genes in diseases, and few, if any, products 
based on gene discoveries have been developed and commercialized. Accordingly, 
even if we are 
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successful in identifying genes, biological pathways or drug candidates 
associated with specific diseases, we or our collaborators may not be able to 
develop or commercialize products to improve human health. Rapid technological 
development by us or others may result in compounds, products or processes 
becoming obsolete before we recover our development expenses. 
 
Our revenues could decline due to patent positions becoming publicly available, 
or due to our competitors publicly disclosing their discoveries 
 
     Our competitors may discover and establish patent positions with respect to 
the genes in our databases. Our competitors and other entities who engage in 
discovering the location of genes within a DNA strand and may make the results 
of their sequencing efforts publicly available. Currently, academic institutions 
and other laboratories participating in the Human Genome Project make their gene 
sequence information available through a number of publicly available databases, 
including the GenBank database. Also, Celera Genomics Group has publicly stated 
that it is committed to make available to the public basic human sequence data. 
The public availability of these discoveries or resulting patent positions 
covering substantial portions of the human genome could reduce the potential 
value of our databases to our collaborators. It could also impair our ability to 
realize royalties or other revenue from any commercialized products based on 
this genetic information. 
 
We are involved in patent litigation, which if not resolved favorably could 
require us to pay damages and stop selling and using microarray products 
 
     We are currently involved in patent litigation. If we lose this litigation 
we could be prevented from producing and using our microarray products, 
including uses of those products for purposes of providing gene expression 
database products and gene expression services. We could also be required to pay 
damages. In January 1998, Affymetrix filed a lawsuit in federal court alleging 
that we infringe U.S. patent number 5,445,934. The complaint alleges that we 
infringed the `934 patent by making, using, selling, importing, distributing or 
offering to sell in the United States high density arrays and that this 
infringement was willful. Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining us 
from further infringement of the `934 patent and, in addition, seeks damages, 
costs, attorneys' fees and interest. Affymetrix also requests triple damages 
based on its allegation of willful infringement by us. 
 
     In September 1998, Affymetrix filed an additional lawsuit in Federal Court, 
alleging we infringed U.S. patent number 5,800,992 and U.S. patent number 
5,744,305. The complaint alleges that we infringed the `305 patent by making, 
using, selling, importing, distributing or offering to sell in the United States 
high density arrays. It also alleges that we infringed the `992 patent by using 
GEM(TM) microarray technology to conduct gene expression monitoring and other 
applications using two-color labeling, and that this infringement was willful. 
Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining us from further infringement 
of the `305 and `992 patents, and in addition, seeks damages, costs, attorneys' 
fees and interest.  Affymetrix also requests triple damages based on the 
allegation of willful infringement. The court held a pretrial hearing in 
November 2000 to determine how to construe the patent claims that will be 
litigated in trial. In January 2001, the court issued a ruling describing how 
the claims in the `934, `305 and `992 patents should be interpreted. The court 
requested additional briefing regarding one of the claim terms in the `992 
patent and Affymetrix has sought reconsideration of the court's construction of 
two additional claim terms in the `992 patent.  The court has not yet issued any 
rulings based on the additional briefs. 
 
     Following issuance of the court's claim construction ruling, we filed a 
motion for partial summary judgement that our cDNA arrays do not infringe any 
claim of the `934 patent or claims 1 and 3 through 13 of the `305 patent.  On 
May 2, 2001, the court granted summary judgement ruling that our accused cDNA 
arrays do not infringe any claim of the `934 patent claims or claims 1 and 3 
through 13 of the `305 patent. 
 
     In April 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences of the United 
States Patent and Trademark Office declared interferences between pending patent 
applications licensed exclusively to us and the Affymetrix `305 and `992 
patents. The Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences invokes an interference 
proceeding when more than one patent applicant claims the same invention. During 
the proceeding, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences evaluates all 
relevant facts, including those bearing on first to invent, validity, enablement 
and scope of claims, and then makes a determination as to 
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who, if anyone, is entitled to the patent on the disputed invention. In 
September 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences determined that we 
had not met our prima facie case, and ruled that the patents licensed by us from 
Stanford University were not entitled to priority over corresponding claims in 
the two Affymetrix patents. We are seeking de novo review of the Board's 
decisions in the United States District Court for the Northern District of 
California. 
 
     In August 2000, we filed a lawsuit against Affymetrix in federal court 
alleging infringement of U.S. patent numbers 5,716,785 and 5,891,636. The 
patents relate to technologies used in the amplification of RNA and the 
generation of gene expression information. Affymetrix has filed counterclaims in 
this lawsuit that allege, among other things, that we infringe U.S. patent 
number 6,040,193 and U.S. patent number 5,871,928. These counterclaims allege 
that we infringe these patents by making, using, offering to sell and/or selling 
within the United States the inventions claimed in the patents, including, in 
the case of the `193 patent, methods for forming microarrays and, in the case of 
the `928 patent, methods for analyzing nucleic acids. The counterclaims also 
allege that we engaged in acts of unfair competition under California statutory 
and common law. Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining us from 
further infringement of the `193 patent and `928 patent and, in addition, seeks 
damages, costs and attorneys' fees and interest. Affymetrix further requests 
triple damages from the infringement claims based on its allegation of willful 
infringement by us. 
 
     We believe we have meritorious defenses and intend to defend the suits and 
counterclaims brought by Affymetrix vigorously. However, our defenses may be 
unsuccessful. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the possible range of 
any loss resulting from these suits and counterclaims due to uncertainty 
regarding the ultimate outcome. Regardless of the outcome, the Affymetrix 
litigation has resulted and is expected to continue to result in substantial 
expenses and diversion of the efforts of our management and technical personnel. 
Further, there can be no assurance that any license that may be required as a 
result of this litigation or the outcome thereof would be made available on 
commercially acceptable terms, if at all. This litigation may also affect our 
potential customers' willingness to use our microarray services and gene 
expression databases, which could affect our revenue. 
 
If we are subject to additional litigation and infringement claims, they could 
be costly and disrupt our business 
 
     The technology that we use to develop our products, and the technology that 
we incorporate in our products, may be subject to claims that they infringe the 
patents or proprietary rights of others. The risk of this occurring will tend to 
increase as the genomics, biotechnology and software industries expand, more 
patents are issued and other companies attempt to discover genes and SNPs and 
engage in other genomic-related businesses. 
 
     As is typical in the genomics, biotechnology and software industries, we 
have received, and we will probably receive in the future, notices from third 
parties alleging patent infringement. We believe that we are not infringing the 
patent rights of any third parties. Except for Affymetrix, no third party has 
filed a patent lawsuit against us. 
 
     We may, however, be involved in future lawsuits alleging patent 
infringement or other intellectual property rights violations. In addition, 
litigation may be necessary to: 
 
   . assert claims of infringement; 
 
   . enforce our patents; 
 
   . protect our trade secrets or know-how; or 
 
   . determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights 
     of others. 
 
     We may be unsuccessful in defending or pursuing these lawsuits. Regardless 
of the outcome, litigation can be very costly and can divert management's 
efforts. An adverse determination may subject us to significant liabilities or 
require us to seek licenses to other parties' patents or proprietary rights. We 
may 
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also be restricted or prevented from manufacturing or selling our products 
and services. Further, we may not be able to obtain any necessary licenses on 
acceptable terms, if at all. 
 
We may be unable to protect our proprietary information, which may result in its 
unauthorized use and a loss of revenue 
 
     Our business and competitive position depend upon our ability to protect 
our proprietary database information and software technology. Despite our 
efforts to protect this information and technology, unauthorized parties may 
attempt to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Although 
our database subscription agreements require our subscribers to control access 
to our databases, policing unauthorized use of our databases and software may be 
difficult. 
 
     We pursue a policy of having our employees, consultants and advisors 
execute proprietary information and invention agreements when they begin working 
for us. However, these agreements may not provide meaningful protection for our 
trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use 
or disclosure. 
 
     Our means of protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate, and our 
competitors may: 
 
   . independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and 
     techniques; 
 
   . otherwise gain access to our proprietary information; or 
 
   . design around patents issued to us or our other intellectual property. 
 
If the inventions described in our patent applications on full-length or partial 
genes are found to be unpatentable, our issued patents are not enforced or our 
patent applications conflict with patent applications filed by others, our 
revenues may decline 
 
     One of our strategies is to file patent applications on what we believe to 
be novel full-length and partial genes and SNPs obtained through our efforts to 
discover the order, or sequence, of the molecules, or bases, of genes. We have 
filed U.S. patent applications in which we claimed partial sequences of some 
genes. We have also applied for patents in the U.S. and other countries claiming 
full-length gene sequences associated with cells and tissues involved in our 
gene sequencing program. We hold a number of issued U.S. patents on full-length 
genes and one issued U.S. patent claiming multiple partial gene sequences. While 
the United States Patent and Trademark Office has issued patents covering full- 
length genes, partial gene sequences and SNPs, the Patent and Trademark Office 
may choose to interpret new guidelines for the issuance of patents in a more 
restrictive manner in the future, which could impact the issuance of our pending 
patent applications. We also do not know whether or how courts may enforce our 
issued patents, if that becomes necessary. If a court finds these types of 
inventions to be unpatentable, or interprets them narrowly, the value of our 
patent portfolio and possibly our revenues could be diminished. 
 
     We believe that some of our patent applications claim genes and partial 
sequences of genes that may also be claimed in patent applications filed by 
others. In some or all of these applications, a determination of priority of 
inventorship may need to be decided in an interference before the United States 
Patent and Trademark Office, before a patent is issued. If a full-length or 
partial length sequence for which we seek a patent is issued to one of our 
competitors, we may be unable to include that full-length or partial length 
sequence on a microarray or in a library of bioreagents. This could result in a 
loss of revenues. 
 
If the effective term of our patents is decreased due to changes in the U.S. 
patent laws or if we need to refile some of our patent applications, the value 
of our patent portfolio and the revenues we derive from it may be decreased 
 
     The value of our patents depends in part on their duration. A shorter 
period of patent protection could lessen the value of our rights under any 
patents that we obtain and may decrease the revenues we derive from our patents. 
The U.S. patent laws were amended in 1995 to change the term of patent 
protection from 17 years from patent issuance to 20 years from the earliest 
effective filing date of the application. 
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Because the average time from filing to issuance of biotechnology applications 
is at least one year and may be more than three years depending on the subject 
matter, a 20-year patent term from the filing date may result in substantially 
shorter patent protection. Also, we may need to refile some of our applications 
claiming large numbers of gene sequences and, in these situations, the patent 
term will be measured from the date of the earliest priority application. This 
would shorten our period of patent exclusivity and may decrease the revenues 
that we might obtain from the patents. 
 
International patent protection is particularly uncertain, and if we are 
involved in opposition proceedings in foreign countries, we may have to expend 
substantial sums and management resources 
 
     Biotechnology patent law outside the United States is even more uncertain 
than in the United States and is currently undergoing review and revision in 
many countries. Further, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our 
intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. laws. We may participate 
in opposition proceedings to determine the validity of our foreign patents or 
our competitors foreign patents, which could result in substantial costs and 
diversion of our efforts. 
 
If our programs relating to the role of genetic variation in disease and drug 
response are not successful, they may not generate significant revenues or 
result in profitable operations 
 
     Part of our business is focused on developing information-based and other 
products and services to assist pharmaceutical companies in a new and unproven 
area: the identification and correlation of variation in genetic composition to 
disease and drug response. We will incur significant costs over the next several 
years in expanding our research and development in this area. These activities 
may never generate significant revenues or profitable operations. 
 
     This aspect of our business focuses on single nucleotide polymorphisms or 
SNPs, one type of genetic variation. The role of SNPs in disease and drug 
response is not fully understood, and relatively few, if any, therapeutic or 
diagnostic products based on SNPs have been developed and commercialized. Among 
other things, demand in this area may be adversely affected by ethical and 
social concerns about the confidentiality of patient-specific genetic 
information and about the use of genetic testing for diagnostic purposes. 
 
     Except for a few anecdotal examples, there is no proof that SNPs have any 
correlation to diseases or a patient's response to a particular drug or class of 
drug. Identifying statistically significant correlations is time-consuming and 
could involve the collection and screening of a large number of patient samples. 
We do not know if the SNPs we have discovered to date are suitable for these 
correlation studies because the variations we discovered may not occur 
frequently enough to justify use by a pharmaceutical company. 
 
     Our success in this area will also depend upon our ability to develop, use 
and enhance new and relatively unproven technologies. Among other things, we 
will need to continue to improve the throughput of our SNP-discovery technology. 
We may not be able to achieve these necessary improvements, and other factors 
may impair our ability to develop our SNP-related products and services in time 
to be competitively available. 
 
If our strategic investments result in losses, our earnings may decline 
 
     We make strategic investments in joint ventures or businesses that 
complement our business. These investments may: 
 
   . often be made in securities lacking a public trading market or subject to 
     trading restrictions, either of which increases our risk and reduces the 
     liquidity of our investment; 
 
   . require us to record losses and expenses related to our ownership interest, 
     such as the losses we reported in 1997, 1998, 1999 and the first quarter of 
     2000 related to our investment in diaDexus, LLC; 
 
   . require us to record charges related to the acquisition of in-process 
     technologies or for the 
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     impairment in the value of the securities underlying our investment; and 
 
   . require us to invest greater amounts than anticipated or to devote 
     substantial management time to the management of research and development 
     relationships and joint ventures. 
 
     The market values of many of these investments fluctuate significantly. We 
evaluate our long-term equity investments for impairment of their values on a 
quarterly basis. Impairment could result in future charges to our earnings. 
These losses and expenses may exceed the amounts that we anticipated. 
 
Because our sales cycle is lengthy, we may spend a lot of time and money trying 
to obtain new or renewed subscriptions to our products and services but may be 
unsuccessful, which could hurt our profitability 
 
     Our ability to obtain new subscribers for our databases, software tools and 
microarray and other services or to obtain renewals or additions to existing 
subscriptions depends upon prospective subscribers' perceptions that our 
products and services can help accelerate drug discovery efforts. Our database 
sales cycle is typically lengthy because we need to educate our potential 
subscribers and sell the benefits of our tools and services to a variety of 
constituencies within potential subscriber companies. In addition, each database 
subscription and microarray services agreement involves the negotiation of 
unique terms. We may expend substantial funds and management effort with no 
assurance that a new, renewed or expanded subscription or services agreement 
will result. These expenditures, without increased revenues, will negatively 
impact our profitability. Actual and proposed consolidations of pharmaceutical 
companies have affected the timing and progress of our sales efforts. We expect 
that future proposed consolidations will have similar effects. 
 
If we encounter problems in meeting customers' software needs, our revenues 
could decline and we could lose our customers' goodwill 
 
     Our databases require software support and will need to incorporate 
features determined by database collaborators. If we experience delays or 
difficulties in implementing our database software or collaborator-requested 
features, we may be unable to service our collaborators, which could result in a 
loss of revenues and customer goodwill. 
 
We have encountered difficulties integrating companies we acquired, and if in 
the future we cannot smoothly integrate businesses we acquire, our operations 
and financial results could be harmed 
 
     In December 2000, we acquired Proteome, Inc. As part of our business 
strategy, we may acquire other assets, technologies and businesses. Our past 
acquisitions have involved and our future acquisitions may involve risks such as 
the following: 
 
   . we may be exposed to unknown liabilities of acquired companies; 
 
   . our acquisition and integration costs may be higher than we anticipated and 
     may cause our quarterly and annual operating results to fluctuate; 
 
   . we may experience difficulty and expense in assimilating the operations and 
     personnel of the acquired businesses, disrupting our business and diverting 
     management's time and attention; 
 
   . we may be unable to integrate or complete the development and application 
     of acquired technology; 
 
   . we may experience difficulties in establishing and maintaining uniform 
     standards, controls, procedures and policies; 
 
   . our relationships with key customers of acquired businesses may be 
     impaired, due to changes in management and ownership of the acquired 
     businesses; 
 
   . we may be unable to retain key employees of the acquired businesses; 
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   . we may incur amortization expenses if an acquisition results in significant 
     goodwill or other intangible assets; and 
 
   . our stockholders may be diluted if we pay for the acquisition with equity 
     securities. 
 
     In addition, if we acquire additional businesses that are not located near 
our Palo Alto, California headquarters, we may experience more difficulty 
integrating and managing the acquired businesses' operations. 
 
If we are unable to manage effectively our growth, our operations and ability to 
support our customers could be affected, which could harm our revenues 
 
     We may continue to experience growth in the number of our employees and the 
scope of our operations. This growth has placed, and may continue to place, a 
significant strain on our management and operations. Our ability to manage this 
growth will depend upon our ability to attract, hire and retain skilled 
employees. Our success will also depend on the ability of our officers and key 
employees to continue to implement and improve our operational and other systems 
and to hire, train and manage our employees. 
 
     In addition, we must continue to invest in customer support resources as 
the number of database collaborators and their requests for support increase. 
Our database collaborators typically have worldwide operations and may require 
support at multiple U.S. and foreign sites. To provide this support, we may need 
to open offices in additional locations, which could result in additional 
burdens on our systems and resources. 
 
We depend on key employees in a competitive market for skilled personnel, and 
the loss of the services of any of our key employees would affect our ability to 
achieve our objectives 
 
     We are highly dependent on the principal members of our management, 
operations and scientific staff. Our product development, operations and 
marketing efforts would be delayed or curtailed if we lose the services of any 
of these people. 
 
     Our future success also will depend in part on the continued service of our 
executive management team, key scientific, software, bioinformatics and 
management personnel and our ability to identify, hire, train and retain 
additional personnel, including customer service, marketing and sales staff. We 
experience intense competition for qualified personnel. If we are unable to 
continue to attract, train and retain these personnel, we may be unable to 
expand our business. 
 
We rely on a small number of suppliers of products we need for our business, and 
if we are unable to obtain sufficient supplies, we will be unable to compete 
effectively 
 
     Currently, we use gene sequencing machines supplied by Molecular Dynamics, 
a subsidiary of Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Ltd., and chemicals used in the 
sequencing process, called reagents, supplied by Sigma-Aldrich, Inc. in our gene 
sequencing operations. If we are not able to obtain additional machines or an 
adequate supply of reagents or other materials at commercially reasonable rates, 
our ability to identify genes or genetic variations would be slower and more 
expensive. 
 
If the information we obtain from third-party data sources is corrupt or 
violates the law, our revenues and operating results could decline 
 
     We rely on and include in our databases scientific and other data supplied 
by others, including publicly available information from sources such as the 
Human Genome Project. This data could contain errors or other defects, which 
could corrupt our databases. In addition, we cannot guarantee that our data 
sources acquired this information in compliance with legal requirements. If this 
data caused database corruption or violated legal requirements, we would be 
unable to sell subscriptions to our databases. These lost sales would harm our 
revenue and operating results. 
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Security risks in electronic commerce or unfavorable internet regulations may 
deter future use of our products and services, which could result in a loss of 
revenues 
 
     We offer several products through our website on the Internet and may offer 
additional products in the future. Our ability to provide secure transmissions 
of confidential information over the Internet may limit online use of our 
products and services by our database collaborators as we may be limited by our 
inability to provide secure transmissions of confidential information over the 
Internet. Advances in computer capabilities and new discoveries in the field of 
cryptography may compromise the security measures we use to protect our website, 
access to our databases, and transmissions to and from our website. If our 
security measures are breached, our proprietary information or confidential 
information about our collaborators could be misappropriated. Also, a security 
breach could result in interruptions in our operations. The security measures we 
adopt may not be sufficient to prevent breaches, and we may be required to incur 
significant costs to protect against security breaches or to alleviate problems 
caused by breaches. Further, if the security of our website, or the website of 
another company, is breached, our collaborators may no longer use the Internet 
when the transmission of confidential information is involved. For example, 
recent attacks by computer hackers on major e-commerce websites and other 
Internet service providers have heightened concerns regarding the security and 
reliability of the Internet. 
 
     Because of the growth in electronic commerce, the United States Congress 
has held hearings on whether to further regulate providers of services and 
transactions in the electronic commerce market. The federal government could 
enact laws, rules and regulations that would affect our business and operations. 
Individual states could also enact laws regulating the use of the Internet. If 
enacted, these federal and state laws, rules and regulations could require us to 
change our online business and operations, which could limit our growth and our 
development of our online products. 
 
Our customers may not consider the internet as an acceptable method for 
accessing our products and services 
 
     We have expended a significant amount of time and money to make our 
products available through the Internet. In 2000, we introduced our on-line 
product LifeSeq Gene-by-Gene and made LifeSeq Gold and LifeExpress available on- 
line. If only a few of our customers choose to use the Internet as a method for 
accessing our products and services, we may have to incur a charge against 
earnings to write-off Internet related assets. 
 
Because our activities involve the use of hazardous materials, we may be subject 
to costly environmental liability that could exceed our resources 
 
     Our research and development involves the controlled use of hazardous and 
radioactive materials and biological waste. We are subject to federal, state and 
local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and 
disposal of these materials and waste products. Although we believe that our 
safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials comply with 
legally prescribed standards, the risk of accidental contamination or injury 
from these materials cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of an 
accident, we could be held liable for damages, and this liability could exceed 
our resources. 
 
     We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with 
applicable environmental laws and regulations and currently do not expect to 
make material additional capital expenditures for environmental control 
facilities in the near term. However, we may have to incur significant costs to 
comply with current or future environmental laws and regulations. 
 
Because our revenues are derived primarily from the pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology industries, our revenues may fluctuate substantially due to 
reductions and delays in research and development expenditures 
 
     We expect that our revenues in the foreseeable future will be derived 
primarily from products and services provided to the pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology industries as well as to the academic community. Accordingly, our 
success will depend in large part upon the success of the companies within these 
industries 
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and their demand for our products and services. Our operating results may 
fluctuate substantially due to reductions and delays in research and development 
expenditures by companies in these industries or by the academic community. 
These reductions and delays may result from factors such as: 
 
     .    changes in economic conditions; 
 
     .    consolidation in the pharmaceutical industry; 
 
     .    changes in the regulatory environment, including governmental pricing 
          controls, affecting health care and health care providers; 
 
     .    pricing pressures; 
 
     .    market-driven pressures on companies to consolidate and reduce costs; 
          and 
 
     .    other factors affecting research and development spending. 
 
     These factors are not within our control. 
 
If a natural disaster occurs, we may have to cease or limit our business 
operations 
 
     We conduct our database, sequencing and a significant portion of our other 
activities at our facilities in Palo Alto, California, and conduct our 
microarray-related activities at our facilities in Fremont, California. Both 
locations are in a seismically active area. Although we maintain business 
interruption insurance, we do not have or plan to obtain earthquake insurance. A 
major catastrophe, such as an earthquake or other natural disaster, could result 
in a prolonged interruption of our business. 
 
We may experience power blackouts and higher electricity prices as a result of 
California's current energy crisis, which could disrupt our operations and 
increase our expenses 
 
     California is in the midst of an energy crisis that could disrupt our 
operations and increase our expenses. We rely on the major Northern California 
public utility, Pacific Gas & Electric Company, or PG&E, to supply electric 
power to our facilities in Northern California. Due to problems associated with 
the de-regulation of the power industry in California and shortages in wholesale 
electricity supplies, customers of PG&E have been faced with increased 
electricity prices, power shortages and, in some cases, rolling blackouts. If 
blackouts interrupt our power supply, we may be temporarily unable to continue 
operations at our facilities. Any such interruption in our ability to continue 
operations at our facilities could delay our ability to develop or provide our 
products and services, which could damage our reputation and result in lost 
revenue, either of which could substantially harm our business and results of 
operations. 
 
We have a large amount of debt and our debt service obligations may prevent us 
from taking actions that we would otherwise consider to be in our best interests 
 
     .    As of March 31, 2001, we had: 
 
     .    total consolidated debt of approximately $179.6 million, 
 
     .    stockholders' equity of approximately $610.1 million, and 
 
     .    a deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges of $10.3 
          million for the three months ended March 31, 2001. 
 
    A variety of uncertainties and contingencies will affect our future 
performance, many of which are beyond our control. We may not generate 
sufficient cash flow in the future to enable us to meet our anticipated fixed 
charges, including our debt service requirements with respect to our convertible 
subordinated notes due 2007 that we sold in February 2000. At March 31, 2001, 
notes with a face value of $177 million were outstanding. The following table 
shows, as of March 31, 2001, the aggregate amount of 
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our interest payments due in each of the next five years listed: 
 
                                                             Aggregate 
       Year                                                   Interest 
       ----                                                   -------- 
       2001...........................................       $9,735,000 
       2002...........................................        9,735,000 
       2003...........................................        9,735,000 
       2004...........................................        9,735,000 
       2005...........................................        9,735,000 
 
    Our substantial leverage could have significant negative consequences for 
our future operations, including: 
 
     .    increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry 
          conditions; 
 
     .    requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our expected cash 
          flow from operations to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing the 
          amount of our expected cash flow available for other purposes, 
          including working capital and capital expenditures; 
 
     .    limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in 
          our business and the industry in which we compete; or 
 
     .    placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage compared to less 
          leveraged competitors and competitors that have better access to 
          capital resources. 
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PART I:  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
ITEM 3:  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
     The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its 
investments in short-term marketable securities. The Company's investment policy 
calls for investment in short term, low risk instruments. As of March 31, 2001, 
investments in marketable securities were $556.0 million. Due to the nature of 
these investments, if market interest rates were to increase immediately and 
uniformly by 10% from levels as of March 31, 2001, the decline in the fair value 
of the portfolio would not be material. 
 
     The Company is exposed to equity price risks on the marketable portion of 
equity securities included in its portfolio of investments and long-term 
investments, entered into to further its business and strategic objectives. 
These investments are in small capitalization stocks in the pharmaceutical / 
biotechnology industry sector, and are primarily in companies with which the 
Company has research and development, licensing or other collaborative 
agreements. The Company typically does not attempt to reduce or eliminate its 
market exposure on these securities. As of March 31, 2001, long-term investments 
were $47.6 million. 
 
     The Company is exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations as the 
financial results of its foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars in 
consolidation. As exchange rates vary, these results, when translated, may vary 
from expectations and adversely impact the Company's financial position or 
results of operations. All of the Company's revenues are denominated in U.S. 
dollars. The Company does not enter into forward exchange contracts as a hedge 
against foreign currency exchange risk on transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies or for speculative or trading purposes. If currency exchange rates 
were to fluctuate immediately and uniformly by 10% from levels as of March 31, 
2001, the impact to the Company's financial position or results of operations 
would not be material. 
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PART II: OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 1   Legal Proceedings 
 
     In January 1998, Affymetrix Inc, ("Affymetrix") filed a lawsuit in the 
United States District Court for the District of Delaware, which was 
subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern 
District of California in November 1998, alleging infringement of U.S. patent 
number 5,445,934 by the Company. The complaint alleges that the Company 
infringed the '934 patent by making, using, selling, importing, distributing or 
offering to sell in the United States high density arrays and that this 
infringement was willful. Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining the 
Company from further infringement of the '934 patent and, in addition, seeks 
damages, costs, attorneys' fees and interest. Affymetrix also requests triple 
damages based on its allegation of willful infringement by the Company. 
 
     In September 1998, Affymetrix filed an additional lawsuit in the United 
States District Court for the District of Delaware, which was subsequently 
transferred to the United States District Court for the Northern District of 
California in November 1998, alleging the Company infringed U.S. patent number 
5,800,992 and U.S. patent number 5,744,305. The complaint alleges that the 
Company infringed the '305 patent by making, using, selling, importing, 
distributing or offering to sell in the United States high density arrays. It 
also alleges that the Company infringed the '992 patent by using their GEM 
microarray technology to conduct gene expression monitoring and other 
applications using two-color labeling, and that this infringement was willful. 
Affymetrix seeks a permanent injunction enjoining the Company from further 
infringement of the '305 and '992 patents, and in addition, seeks damages, 
costs, attorneys' fees and interest.  Affymetrix also requests triple damages 
based on the allegation of willful infringement. The court held a pretrial 
hearing in November 2000 to determine how to construe the patent claims that 
will be litigated in trial. In January 2001, the court issued a ruling 
describing how the claims in the '934, '305 and '992 patents should be 
interpreted.  The court requested additional briefing regarding one of the claim 
terms in the '992 patent and Affymetrix has sought reconsideration of the 
court's construction of two additional claim terms in the '992 patent.  The 
court has not yet issued any rulings based on the additional briefs. 
 
     Following issuance of the court's claim construction ruling, we filed a 
motion for partial summary judgement that our cDNA arrays do not infringe any 
claim of the '934 patent or claims 1 and 3 through 13 of the '305 patent. On May 
2, 2001, the court granted summary judgement ruling that our accused cDNA arrays 
do not infringe any claim of the '934 patent claims or claims 1 and 3 through 13 
of the '305 patent. 
 
     In April 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences of the United 
States Patent and Trademark Office declared interferences between pending patent 
applications licensed exclusively to the Company and the Affymetrix '305 and 
'992 patents. The Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences invokes an 
interference proceeding when more than one patent applicant claims the same 
invention. During the proceeding, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences 
evaluates all relevant facts, including those bearing on first to invent, 
validity, enablement and scope of claims, and then makes a determination as to 
who, if anyone, is entitled to the patent on the disputed invention. In 
September 1999, the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences determined that 
the Company had not met its prima facie case, and ruled that the patents 
licensed by the Company from Stanford University were not entitled to priority 
over corresponding claims in the two Affymetrix patents. The Company is seeking 
de novo review of the Board's decisions in the United States District Court for 
the Northern District of California. 
 
     In August 2000, the Company filed a lawsuit against Affymetrix in federal 
court alleging infringement of U.S. patent numbers 5,716,785 and 5,891,636. The 
patents relate to technologies used in the amplification of RNA and the 
generation of gene expression information. Affymetrix has filed counterclaims in 
this lawsuit that allege, among other things, that the Company infringe U.S. 
patent number 6,040,193 and U.S. patent number 5,871,928. These counterclaims 
allege that the Company infringe these patents by making, using, offering to 
sell and/or selling within the United States the inventions claimed in the 
patents, including, in the case of the '193 patent, methods for forming 
microarrays and, in the case of the '928 patent, methods for analyzing nucleic 
acids. The counterclaims also allege that the Company engaged in acts of unfair 
competition under California statutory and common law. Affymetrix seeks a 
permanent injunction enjoining the Company from further infringement of the '193 
patent and '928 patent and, in 
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addition, seeks damages, costs and attorneys' fees and interest. Affymetrix 
further requests triple damages from the infringement claims based on its 
allegation of willful infringement by the Company. 
 
     In December 1999 and August 2000, the Company filed lawsuits against Gene 
Logic Inc. in federal court alleging patent infringement. Gene Logic filed 
counterclaims alleging, among other things, that the Company committed acts of 
unfair competition under California statutory and common law. Gene Logic sought, 
among other things, damages, costs and attorneys' fees. In January 2001, the 
Company reached a litigation settlement with Gene Logic pursuant to which the 
lawsuits were dismissed, and Gene Logic will have a non-exclusive license to 
practice the technology described in the patents. 
 
     The Company believes it has meritorious defenses and intends to defend 
vigorously the suits and counterclaims brought by Affymetrix. However, the 
Company's defenses may be unsuccessful. At this time, the Company cannot 
reasonably estimate the possible range of any loss resulting from these suits 
and counterclaims due to uncertainty regarding the ultimate outcome. Regardless 
of the outcome, the Affymetrix litigation has resulted and is expected to 
continue to result in substantial expenses and diversion of the efforts of our 
management and technical personnel. Further, there can be no assurance that any 
license that may be required as a result of this litigation or the outcome 
thereof would be made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. 
This litigation may also affect the Company's potential customers' willingness 
to use its microarray services and gene expression databases, which could 
adversely affect the Company's revenue. 
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Item 2    Changes in Securities 
 
          (a)  Not applicable 
 
          (b)  Not applicable 
 
          (c)  Not applicable 
 
          (d)  Not applicable 
 
Item 3    Defaults Upon Senior Securities 
          None 
 
Item 4    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
          None 
 
Item 5    Other Information 
          None 
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Item 6    Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K. 
 
          a)   Exhibits 
               See Exhibit Index on Page 36, which is hereby incorporated by 
               reference herein. 
 
          b)   Reports on Form 8-K 
 
               The Company filed 3 reports on Form 8-K during the fiscal quarter 
               covered by this report, as follows: 
 
               (i)    Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 10, 2001, 
                      reporting under Item 2, the completion of the acquisition 
                      of Proteome, Inc. effective December 28, 2000, as amended 
                      by Form 8-K/A filed on February 5, 2001 to file under Item 
                      7 of Form 8-K certain financial statements and information 
                      required thereunder. 
 
               (ii)   Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 13, 2001, 
                      reporting under Item 5 the Company's financial results for 
                      the quarter and year ended December 31, 2000. 
 
               (iii)  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 23, 2001, 
                      reporting under Item 5 the Company's updated description 
                      of its risk factors. 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
                                                           INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
 
 
Date:  May 14, 2001                            By:  /s/ Roy A. Whitfield 
                                                    ---------------------------- 
                                                    Roy A. Whitfield 
                                                    Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
Date:  May 14, 2001                            By:  /s/ John M. Vuko 
                                                    ---------------------------- 
                                                    John M. Vuko 
                                                    Chief Financial Officer 
 
                                       35 



 
 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
                                 EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
 
Exhibit 
Number                                                  Description of Document 
- ------                                                  ----------------------- 
           
   3(ii)     Bylaws of the Company, as amended 
 
   10.1      1991 Stock Plan of Incyte Genomics, Inc. as amended and restated 
 
   10.4      Amended and Restated 1993 Directors' Stock Option Plan Of Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
 
   10.15     1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Incyte Genomics, Inc., as amended and restated 
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                                                                   Exhibit 3(ii) 
 
                                    BY LAWS 
                                       OF 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
                       (amended as of February 15, 2001) 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE I 
 
                            MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS 
 
     Section 1.  Place of Meetings. All meetings of the stockholders shall be 
                 ----------------- 
held at such place within or without the State of Delaware as may be fixed from 
time to time by the board of directors or the chief executive officer, or if not 
so designated, at the registered office of the corporation. 
 
     Section 2.  Annual Meeting. Annual meetings of stockholders shall be held 
                 -------------- 
at such date and time as shall be designated from time to time by the board of 
directors or the chief executive officer and stated in the notice of meeting. At 
the annual meeting the stockholders shall elect by a plurality vote a board of 
directors and shall transact such other business as may properly be brought 
before the meeting. 
 
     To be properly brought before the annual meeting, business must be either 
(a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or 
at the direction of the board of directors or the chief executive officer, (b) 
otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the 
board of directors or the chief executive officer, or (c) otherwise properly 
brought before the meeting by a stockholder of record.  In addition to any other 
applicable requirements, for business to be properly brought before the annual 
meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof 
in writing to the secretary of the corporation.  To be timely, a stockholder's 
notice must be delivered by a nationally recognized courier service or mailed by 
first class United States mail, postage or delivery charges prepaid, and 
received at the principal executive offices of the corporation, addressed to the 
attention of the secretary of the corporation, not less than 60 days nor more 
than 90 days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting (regardless of any 
postponements, deferrals or adjournments of that meeting to a later date); 
provided, however, that in the event that less than 70 days' notice or prior 
public disclosure of the date of the scheduled meeting is given or made to 
stockholders, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not 
later than the earlier of (a) the close of business on the 10th day following 
the day on which such notice of the date of the scheduled annual meeting was 
mailed or such public disclosure was made, whichever first occurs, and (b) two 
days prior to the date of the scheduled meeting.  A stockholder's notice to the 
secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring 
before the annual meeting (i) a brief description of the business desired to be 
brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for conducting such business 
at the annual meeting, (ii) the name and record address of the stockholder 
proposing such business, (iii) the class, series and number of shares of the 
corporation that are owned beneficially by the stockholder, and (iv) any 
material interest of the stockholder in such business.  Notwithstanding anything 
in these bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at the annual 
meeting except in accordance with the procedures set 
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forth in this Section; provided, however, that nothing in this Section shall be 
deemed to preclude discussion by any stockholder of any business properly 
brought before the annual meeting. 
 
     The chairman of the board of the corporation (or such other person 
presiding at the meeting in accordance with these bylaws) shall, if the facts 
warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that business was not properly 
brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section, 
and if he should so determine, he shall so declare to the meeting and any such 
business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted. 
 
     Section 3.  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the stockholders, for any 
                 ---------------- 
purpose or purposes, may, unless otherwise prescribed by statute or by the 
certificate of incorporation, be called only by the board of directors or the 
chief executive officer and shall be called by the chief executive officer or 
secretary at the request in writing of a majority of the board of directors. 
Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting. 
Business transacted at any special meeting shall be limited to matters relating 
to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. 
 
     Section 4.  Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by law, 
                 ------------------ 
written notice of each meeting of stockholders, annual or special, stating the 
place, date and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the 
purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be given not less 
than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting, to each 
stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting. 
 
     Section 5.  Voting List. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of 
                 ----------- 
the corporation shall prepare and make, at least ten days before every meeting 
of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the 
meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each 
stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. 
Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose 
germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least 
ten days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city or town where 
the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the 
meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held. 
The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting 
during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is 
present. 
 
     Section 6.  Quorum. The holders of a majority of the stock issued and 
                 ------ 
outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by 
proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the 
transaction of business, except as otherwise provided by statute, the 
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws. 
 
     Section 7.  Adjournments. Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned from 
                 ------------ 
time to time to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of 
stockholders may be held under these bylaws, which time and place shall be 
announced at the meeting, by a majority of the stockholders present in person or 
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote, though less than a 
quorum, or, if no stockholder is present or represented by proxy, by any officer 
entitled to preside at or to act as secretary of such meeting, without notice 
other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or 
represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or 
represented, any business may be transacted 
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which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is 
for more than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is 
fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be 
given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. 
 
     Section 8.  Action at Meetings. When a quorum is present at any meeting, 
                 ------------------ 
the vote of the holders of a majority of the stock present in person or 
represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the question shall decide any 
question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which by 
express provision of law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a 
different vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern 
and control the decision of such question. 
 
     Section 9.  Voting and Proxies. Unless otherwise provided in the 
                 ------------------ 
certificate of incorporation, each stockholder shall at every meeting of the 
stockholders be entitled to one vote for each share of capital stock having 
voting power held of record by such stockholder. Each stockholder entitled to 
vote at a meeting of stockholders, or to express consent or dissent to corporate 
action in writing without a meeting, may authorize another person or persons to 
act for him by proxy, but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three 
years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. 
 
     Section 10.  Action Without Meeting. Any action required to be taken at any 
                  ---------------------- 
annual or special meeting of stockholders, or any action which may be taken at 
any annual or special meeting of such stockholders, may be taken without a 
meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent in writing, 
setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding 
stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary 
to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to 
vote thereon were present and voted. Prompt notice of the taking of the 
corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall 
be given to those stockholders who have not consented in writing. 
 
                                   ARTICLE II 
 
                                   DIRECTORS 
 
     Section 1.  Number, Election, Tenure and Qualification.  The number of 
                 ------------------------------------------ 
directors which shall constitute the whole board of directors shall not be less 
than one (1) nor more than seven (7), and the exact number of directors shall be 
seven (7) until changed by resolution of the board of directors.  Within such 
limit, the number of directors which shall constitute the whole board of 
directors shall be fixed from time to time by resolution of the board of 
directors.  The directors shall be elected at the annual meeting or at any 
special meeting of the stockholders, except as provided in Section 3 of this 
Article, and each director elected shall hold office until his successor is 
elected and qualified, unless sooner displaced.  Directors need not be 
stockholders. 
 
     Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures 
shall be eligible for election as directors.  Nominations of persons for 
election to the board of directors at the annual meeting, by or at the direction 
of the board of directors, may be made by any nominating committee or person 
appointed by the board of directors; nominations may also be 
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made by any stockholder of record of the corporation entitled to vote for the 
election of directors at the meeting who complies with the notice procedures set 
forth in this Section. Such nominations, other than those made by or at the 
direction of the board of directors, shall be made pursuant to timely notice in 
writing to the secretary of the corporation. To be timely, a stockholder's 
notice shall be delivered by a nationally recognized courier service or mailed 
by first class United States mail, postage or delivery charges prepaid, and 
received at the principal executive offices of the corporation addressed to the 
attention of the secretary of the corporation not less than 60 days nor more 
than 90 days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting (regardless of any 
postponements, deferrals or adjournments of that meeting to a later date); 
provided, however, that, in the case of an annual meeting and in the event that 
less than 70 days' notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the 
scheduled meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by the stockholder to 
be timely must be so received not later than the earlier of (a) the close of 
business on the 10th day following the day on which such notice of the date of 
the scheduled meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made, whichever 
first occurs, or (b) two days prior to the date of the scheduled meeting. Such 
stockholder's notice to the secretary shall set forth (a) as to each person whom 
the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director, 
(i) the name, age, business address and residence address of the person, (ii) 
the principal occupation or employment of the person, (iii) the class, series 
and number of shares of capital stock of the corporation that are owned 
beneficially by the person, (iv) a statement as to the person's citizenship, and 
(v) any other information relating to the person that is required to be 
disclosed in solicitations for proxies for election of directors pursuant to 
Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder; and (b) as to the stockholder giving the 
notice, (i) the name and record address of the stockholder and (ii) the class, 
series and number of shares of capital stock of the corporation that are owned 
beneficially by the stockholder. The corporation may require any proposed 
nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the 
corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as 
director of the corporation. No person shall be eligible for election as a 
director of the corporation unless nominated in accordance with the procedures 
set forth herein. 
 
     In connection with any annual meeting, the chairman of the board of 
directors (or such other person presiding at such meeting in accordance with 
these by-laws) shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting 
that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedure, and 
if he should so determine, he shall so declare to the meeting and the defective 
nomination shall be disregarded. 
 
     Section 2.  Enlargement.  The number of the board of directors may be 
                 ----------- 
increased at any time by vote of a majority of the directors then in office. 
 
     Section 3.  Vacancies.  Vacancies and newly created directorships resulting 
                 --------- 
from any increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a 
majority of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, or by a 
sole remaining director, and the directors so chosen shall hold office until the 
next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and shall 
qualify, unless sooner displaced.  If there are no directors in office, then an 
election of directors may be held in the manner provided by statute.  In the 
event of a vacancy in the board of directors, the remaining directors, except as 
otherwise provided by law or these bylaws, may exercise the powers of the full 
board until the vacancy is filled. 
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     Section 4.  Resignation and Removal. Any director may resign at any time 
                 ----------------------- 
upon written notice to the corporation at its principal place of business or to 
the chief executive officer or the secretary. Such resignation shall be 
effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some other time 
or upon the happening of some other event. Any director or the entire board of 
directors may be removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of 
the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors, unless otherwise 
specified by law or the certificate of incorporation. 
 
     Section 5.  General Powers. The business and affairs of the corporation 
                 -------------- 
shall be managed by its board of directors, which may exercise all powers of the 
corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by 
the certificate of incorporation or by these bylaws directed or required to be 
exercised or done by the stockholders. 
 
     Section 6.  Chairman of the Board.  If the board of directors appoints a 
                 --------------------- 
chairman of the board, he shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the 
stockholders and the board of directors.  He shall perform such duties and 
possess such powers as are customarily vested in the office of the chairman of 
the board or as may be vested in him by the board of directors. 
 
     Section 7.  Place of Meetings. The board of directors may hold meetings, 
                 ----------------- 
both regular and special, either within or without the State of Delaware. 
 
     Section 8.  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the board of directors 
                 ---------------- 
may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to 
time be determined by the board; provided that any director who is absent when 
such a determination is made shall be given prompt notice of such determination. 
A regular meeting of the board of directors may be held without notice 
immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders. 
 
     Section 9.  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the board may be called 
                 ---------------- 
by the chief executive officer, secretary, or on the written request of two or 
more directors, or by one director in the event that there is only one director 
in office. Two days notice to each director, either personally or by telegram, 
cable, telecopy, commercial delivery service, telex or similar means sent to his 
business or home address, or three days notice by written notice deposited in 
the mail, shall be given to each director by the secretary or by the officer or 
one of the directors calling the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a 
meeting of the board of directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting. 
 
     Section 10.  Quorum, Action at Meeting, Adjournments.  At all meetings of 
                  --------------------------------------- 
the board, a majority of directors then in office, but in no event less than one 
third of the entire board, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at 
which there is a quorum shall be the act of the board of directors, except as 
may be otherwise specifically provided by law or by the certificate of 
incorporation.  For purposes of this section, the term "entire board" shall mean 
the number of directors last fixed by the stockholders or directors, as the case 
may be, in accordance with law and these bylaws; provided, however, that if less 
than all the number so fixed of directors were elected, the "entire board" shall 
mean the greatest number of directors so elected to hold office at any one time 
pursuant to such authorization.  If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting 
of the board of 
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directors, a majority of the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting 
from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until 
a quorum shall be present. 
 
     Section 11.  Action by Consent.  Unless otherwise restricted by the 
                  ----------------- 
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any action required or permitted 
to be taken at any meeting of the board of directors or of any committee thereof 
may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the board or committee, as the 
case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed 
with the minutes of proceedings of the board or committee. 
 
     Section 12.  Telephonic Meetings.  Unless otherwise restricted by the 
                  ------------------- 
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, members of the board of directors 
or of any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the board of 
directors or of any committee, as the case may be, by means of conference 
telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons 
participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a 
meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting. 
 
     Section 13.  Committees. The board of directors may, by resolution passed 
                  ---------- 
by a majority of the whole board, designate one or more committees, each 
committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation. The 
board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, 
who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the 
committee. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the 
board of directors, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of 
the board of directors in the management of the business and affairs of the 
corporation, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all 
papers which may require it; but no such committee shall have the power or 
authority in reference to amending the certificate of incorporation, adopting an 
agreement of merger or consolidation, recommending to the stockholders the sale, 
lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation's property and 
assets, recommending to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a 
revocation of a dissolution, or amending the bylaws of the corporation; and, 
unless the resolution designating such committee or the certificate of 
incorporation expressly so provide, no such committee shall have the power or 
authority to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock. Such 
committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be determined from 
time to time by resolution adopted by the board of directors. Each committee 
shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and make such reports to the board of 
directors as the board of directors may request. Except as the board of 
directors may otherwise determine, any committee may make rules for the conduct 
of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the directors or in such 
rules, its business shall be conducted as nearly as possible in the same manner 
as is provided in these bylaws for the conduct of its business by the board of 
directors. 
 
     Section 14.  Compensation. Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate 
                  ------------ 
of incorporation or these bylaws, the board of directors shall have the 
authority to fix from time to time the compensation of directors. The directors 
may be paid their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the board 
of directors and the performance of their responsibilities as directors and may 
be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the board of directors 
and/or a stated salary as director. No such payment shall preclude any director 
from serving the corporation or its parent or subsidiary corporations in any 
other capacity and receiving 
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compensation therefor. The board of directors may also allow compensation for 
members of special or standing committees for service on such committees. 
 
                                  ARTICLE III 
 
                                   OFFICERS 
 
     Section 1.  Enumeration.  The officers of the corporation shall be chosen 
                 ----------- 
by the board of directors and shall be a president, a secretary and a treasurer 
and such other officers with such titles, terms of office and duties as the 
board of directors may from time to time determine, including a chairman of the 
board, one or more vice-presidents, and one or more assistant secretaries and 
assistant treasurers. If authorized by resolution of the board of directors, the 
chief executive officer may be empowered to appoint from time to time assistant 
secretaries and assistant treasurers. Any number of offices may be held by the 
same person, unless the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws otherwise 
provide. 
 
     Section 2.  Election.  The board of directors at its first meeting after 
                 -------- 
each annual meeting of stockholders shall choose a president, a secretary and a 
treasurer.  Other officers may be appointed by the board of directors at such 
meeting, at any other meeting, or by written consent. 
 
     Section 3.  Tenure. The officers of the corporation shall hold office until 
                 ------ 
their successors are chosen and qualify, unless a different term is specified in 
the vote choosing or appointing him, or until his earlier death, resignation or 
removal. Any officer elected or appointed by the board of directors or by the 
chief executive officer may be removed at any time by the affirmative vote of a 
majority of the board of directors or a committee duly authorized to do so, 
except that any officer appointed by the chief executive officer may also be 
removed at any time by the chief executive officer. Any vacancy occurring in any 
office of the corporation may be filled by the board of directors, at its 
discretion. Any officer may resign by delivering his written resignation to the 
corporation at its principal place of business or to the chief executive officer 
or the secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is 
specified to be effective at some other time or upon the happening of some other 
event. 
 
     Section 4. President. The president shall be the chief operating officer of 
                --------- 
the corporation. He shall also be the chief executive officer unless the board 
of directors otherwise provides. The president shall, unless the board of 
directors provides otherwise in a specific instance or generally, preside at all 
meetings of the stockholders and the board of directors, have general and active 
management of the business of the corporation and see that all orders and 
resolutions of the board of directors are carried into effect. The president 
shall execute bonds, mortgages, and other contracts requiring a seal, under the 
seal of the corporation, except where required or permitted by law to be 
otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution thereof 
shall be expressly delegated by the board of directors to some other officer or 
agent of the corporation. 
 
     Section 5.  Vice-Presidents. In the absence of the president or in the 
                 --------------- 
event of his inability or refusal to act, the vice-president, or if there be 
more than one vice-president, the vice-presidents in the order designated by the 
board of directors or the chief executive officer (or in the absence of any 
designation, then in the order determined by their tenure in office) shall 
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perform the duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the 
powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president. The vice- 
presidents shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the 
board of directors or the chief executive officer may from time to time 
prescribe. 
 
     Section 6. Secretary. The secretary shall have such powers and perform such 
                --------- 
duties as are incident to the office of secretary. He shall maintain a stock 
ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and their addresses as required and 
shall be the custodian of corporate records. The secretary shall attend all 
meetings of the board of directors and all meetings of the stockholders and 
record all the proceedings of the meetings of the corporation and of the board 
of directors in a book to be kept for that purpose and shall perform like duties 
for the standing committees when required. He shall give, or cause to be given, 
notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special meetings of the board of 
directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be from time to time 
prescribed by the board of directors or chief executive officer, under whose 
supervision he shall be. He shall have custody of the corporate seal of the 
corporation and he, or an assistant secretary, shall have authority to affix the 
same to any instrument requiring it and when so affixed, it may be attested by 
his signature or by the signature of such assistant secretary. The board of 
directors may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of 
the corporation and to attest the affixing by his signature. 
 
     Section 7.  Assistant Secretaries.  The assistant secretary, or if there be 
                 --------------------- 
more than one, the assistant secretaries in the order determined by the board of 
directors, the chief executive officer or the secretary (or if there be no such 
determination, then in the order determined by their tenure in office), shall, 
in the absence of the secretary or in the event of his inability or refusal to 
act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the secretary and shall 
perform such other duties and have such other powers as the board of directors, 
the chief executive officer or the secretary may from time to time prescribe. 
In the absence of the secretary or any assistant secretary at any meeting of 
stockholders or directors, the person presiding at the meeting shall designate a 
temporary or acting secretary to keep a record of the meeting. 
 
     Section 8. Treasurer. The treasurer shall perform such duties and shall 
                --------- 
have such powers as may be assigned to him by the board of directors or the 
chief executive officer. In addition, the treasurer shall perform such duties 
and have such powers as are incident to the office of treasurer. The treasurer 
shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full 
and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the 
corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name 
and to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as may be designated 
by the board of directors. He shall disburse the funds of the corporation as may 
be ordered by the board of directors, taking proper vouchers for such 
disbursements, and shall render to the chief executive officer and the board of 
directors, when the chief executive officer or board of directors so requires, 
an account of all his transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition 
of the corporation. 
 
     Section 9. Assistant Treasurers. The assistant treasurer, or if there shall 
                -------------------- 
be more than one, the assistant treasurers in the order determined by the board 
of directors, the chief executive officer or the treasurer (or if there be no 
such determination, then in the order determined by their tenure in office), 
shall, in the absence of the treasurer or in the event of his inability or 
refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the treasurer and 
shall perform such other 
 
                                      -8- 



 
 
duties and have such other powers as the board of directors, the chief executive 
officer or the treasurer may from time to time prescribe. 
 
     Section 10. Bond. If required by the board of directors, any officer shall 
                 ---- 
give the corporation a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties and 
upon such terms and conditions as shall be satisfactory to the board of 
directors, including without limitation a bond for the faithful performance of 
the duties of his office and for the restoration to the corporation of all 
books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in his 
possession or under his control and belonging to the corporation. 
 
                                  ARTICLE IV 
 
                                    NOTICES 
 
     Section 1.  Delivery.  Whenever, under the provisions of law, or of the 
                 -------- 
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, written notice is required to be 
given to any director or stockholder, such notice may be given by mail, 
addressed to such director or stockholder, at his address as it appears on the 
records of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall 
be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be deposited in the United 
States mail. Unless written notice by mail is required by law, written notice 
may also be given by telegram, cable, telecopy, commercial delivery service, 
telex or similar means, addressed to such director or stockholder at his address 
as it appears on the records of the corporation, in which case such notice shall 
be deemed to be given when delivered into the control of the persons charged 
with effecting such transmission, the transmission charge to be paid by the 
corporation or the person sending such notice and not by the addressee. Oral 
notice or other in-hand delivery (in person or by telephone) shall be deemed 
given at the time it is actually given. 
 
     Section 2. Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given 
                ---------------- 
under the provisions of law or of the certificate of incorporation or of these 
bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to 
said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed 
equivalent thereto. 
 
                                   ARTICLE V 
 
                                INDEMNIFICATION 
 
     Section 1. Actions Other than by or in the Right of the Corporation. 
                -------------------------------------------------------- 
Subject to Section 4 of this Article V, the corporation shall indemnify any 
person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any 
threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, 
criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the 
right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, 
officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the 
request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against 
expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in 
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such 
action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he 
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best 
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interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or 
proceedings, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The 
termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, 
conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of 
itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a 
manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best 
interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or 
proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful. 
 
     Section 2. Actions by or in the Right of the Corporation. Subject to 
                --------------------------------------------- 
Section 4 of this Article V, the corporation shall indemnify any person who was 
or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or 
completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a 
judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, 
officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the 
request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another 
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against 
expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in 
connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he acted in 
good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the 
best interests of the corporation; except that no indemnification shall be made 
in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been 
adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the court in which such action or 
suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication 
of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is 
fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware or such other court shall deem proper. 
 
     Section 3. Success on the Merits. To the extent that any person described 
                --------------------- 
in Section 1 or 2 of this Article V has been successful on the merits or 
otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in said 
Sections, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be 
indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably 
incurred by him in connection therewith. 
 
     Section 4. Specific Authorization. Any indemnification under Section 1 or 2 
                ---------------------- 
of this Article V (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the corporation 
only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that 
indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the 
circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in 
Section 1 or 2, as the case may be, of this Article V. Such determination shall 
be made (1) by the board of directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting 
of directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, or (2) if 
such a quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable a quorum of 
disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written 
opinion, or (3) by the stockholders of the corporation. 
 
     Section 5. Advance Payment. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or 
                --------------- 
criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the corporation in advance of 
the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding as authorized by the 
board of directors in the manner provided for in Section 4 of this Article V 
upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of any person described in said 
Section to repay such amount unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is 
entitled to indemnification by the corporation as authorized in this Article V. 
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     Section 6. Non-Exclusivity. The indemnification and advancement of expenses 
                --------------- 
provided by this Article V shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to 
which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled 
under any bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or 
otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in 
another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person 
who has ceased to be director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation and 
shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a 
person; provided, however, that any repeal or amendment of any of the provisions 
of this Article V shall not adversely affect any right or protection of any 
indemnitee existing at the time of such repeal or amendment. 
 
     Section 7. Insurance. The board of directors may authorize, by a vote of 
                --------- 
the majority of the full board, the corporation to purchase and maintain 
insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or 
agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation 
as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, 
joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against 
him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as 
such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him 
against such liability under the provisions of this Article V. 
 
     Section 8. Severability. If any word, clause or provision of this Article V 
                ------------ 
or any award made hereunder shall for any reason be determined to be invalid, 
the provisions hereof shall not otherwise be affected thereby but shall remain 
in full force and effect. 
 
     Section 9. Intent of Article. The intent of this Article V is to provide 
                ----------------- 
for indemnification to the fullest extent not prohibited by section 145 of the 
General Corporation Law of Delaware. To the extent that such Section or any 
successor section may be amended or supplemented from time to time, this Article 
V shall be amended automatically and construed so as to permit indemnification 
to the fullest extent from time to time not prohibited by law. 
 
                                  ARTICLE VI 
 
                                 CAPITAL STOCK 
 
     Section 1. Certificates of Stock. Every holder of stock in the corporation 
                --------------------- 
shall be entitled to have a certificate, signed by, or in the name of the 
corporation by, the chairman or vice-chairman of the board of directors, or the 
president or a vice-president and the treasurer or an assistant treasurer, or 
the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation, certifying the 
number of shares owned by him in the corporation. Any or all of the signatures 
on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or 
registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a 
certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar 
before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the 
same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date 
of issue. Certificates may be issued for partly paid shares and in such case 
upon the face or back of the certificates issued to represent any such partly 
paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor, and the 
amount paid thereon shall be specified. 
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     Section 2. Lost Certificates.  The board of directors may direct a new 
                ----------------- 
certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or 
certificates theretofore issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, 
stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or 
certificates, the board of directors may, in its discretion and as a condition 
precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or 
destroyed certificate or certificates, or his legal representative, to give 
reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction, to advertise the same in 
such manner as it shall require and/or to give the corporation a bond in such 
sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the 
corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or 
destroyed or the issuance of such new certificate. 
 
     Section 3. Transfer of Stock. Upon surrender to the corporation or the 
                ----------------- 
transfer agent of the corporation of a certificate for shares, duly endorsed or 
accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to 
transfer, and proper evidence of compliance with other conditions to rightful 
transfer, it shall be the duty of the corporation to issue a new certificate to 
the person entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the 
transaction upon its books. 
 
     Section 4. Record Date. In order that the corporation may determine the 
                ----------- 
stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or 
any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to corporate action in writing 
without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other 
distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in 
respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any 
other lawful action, the board of directors may fix, in advance, a record date, 
which shall not be more than sixty days nor less then ten days before the date 
of such meeting, nor more than sixty days prior to any other action to which 
such record date relates. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to 
notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment 
of the meeting; provided, however, that the board of directors may fix a new 
record date for the adjourned meeting. If no record date is fixed, the record 
date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting 
of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day before the day on 
which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the 
day before the day on which the meeting is held. The record date for determining 
stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without 
a meeting, when no prior action by the board of directors is necessary, shall be 
the day on which the first written consent is expressed. The record date for 
determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business 
on the day on which the board of directors adopts the resolution relating to 
such purpose. 
 
     Section 5. Registered Stockholders. The corporation shall be entitled to 
                ----------------------- 
recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner 
of shares to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable 
for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner of 
shares, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or 
interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not 
it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by 
the laws of Delaware. 
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                                  ARTICLE VII 
 
                             CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS 
 
     Section 1. Transactions with Interested Parties. No contract or transaction 
                ------------------------------------ 
between the corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between 
the corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other 
organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or 
have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or 
solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the 
meeting of the board or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or 
transaction or solely because his or their votes are counted for such purpose, 
if: 
 
          (a) the material facts as to his relationship or interest and as to 
     the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the board of 
     directors or the committee, and the board or committee in good faith 
     authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a 
     majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested 
     directors be less than a quorum; or 
 
          (b) The material facts as to his relationship or interest and as to 
     the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders 
     entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically 
     approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or 
 
          (c) The contract or transaction is fair as to the corporation as of 
     the time it is authorized, approved or ratified, by the board of directors, 
     a committee thereof, or the stockholders. 
 
     Section 2. Quorum. Common or interested directors may be counted in 
                ------ 
determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the board of directors or 
of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction. 
 
 
                                 ARTICLE VIII 
 
                              GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
     Section 1. Dividends. Dividends upon the capital stock of the corporation, 
                --------- 
if any, may be declared by the board of directors at any regular or special 
meeting or by written consent, pursuant to law. Dividends may be paid in cash, 
in property, or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the 
certificate of incorporation. 
 
     Section 2. Reserves. The directors may set apart out of any funds of the 
                -------- 
corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose 
and may abolish any such reserve. 
 
     Section 3. Checks. All checks or demands for money and notes of the 
                ------ 
corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or 
persons as the board of directors may from time to time designate. 
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     Section 4. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed 
                ----------- 
by resolution of the board of directors. 
 
     Section 5. Seal. The board of directors may, by resolution, adopt a 
                ---- 
corporate seal. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the 
corporation, the year of its organization and the word "Delaware." The seal may 
be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or 
otherwise reproduced. The seal may be altered from time to time by the board of 
directors. 
 
                                   ARTICLE IX 
 
                                   AMENDMENTS 
 
     These bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed or new bylaws may be 
adopted by the stockholders or by the board of directors, when such power is 
conferred upon the board of directors by the certificate of incorporation, at 
any regular meeting of the stockholders or of the board of directors or at any 
special meeting of the stockholders or of the board of directors provided, 
however, that in the case of a regular or special meeting of stockholders, 
notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or adoption of new bylaws be 
contained in the notice of such meeting. 
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                                                                    Exhibit 10.1 
 
                                1991 STOCK PLAN OF 
                                INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
                 (As Amended and Restated on February 15, 2001) 
 
 
SECTION 1.  ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE. 
 
            The Plan was adopted on November 7, 1991, and most recently amended 
and restated on February 15, 2001. The purpose of the Plan is to offer selected 
employees and consultants an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in 
the success of the Company, or to increase such interest, by purchasing Shares 
of the Company's Stock. The Plan provides both for the direct award or sale of 
Shares and for the grant of Options to purchase Shares. Options granted under 
the Plan may include Nonstatutory Options as well as ISOs intended to qualify 
under section 422 of the Code. 
 
            The Plan is intended to comply in all respects with Rule 16b-3 (or 
its successor) under the Exchange Act and shall be construed accordingly. 
 
SECTION 2.  DEFINITIONS. 
 
            (a)  "Board of Directors" shall mean the Board of Directors of the 
Company, as constituted from time to time. 
 
            (b)  "Change in Control" shall mean the occurrence of either of the 
following events: 
 
            (i)  A change in the composition of the Board of Directors, as a 
    result of which fewer than one-half of the incumbent directors are directors 
    who either: 
 
                    (A)  Had been directors of the Company 24 months prior to 
    such change; or 
 
                    (B)  Were elected, or nominated for election, to the Board 
    of Directors with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the 
    directors who had been directors of the Company 24 months prior to such 
    change and who were still in office at the time of the election or 
    nomination; or 
 
            (ii) Any "person" (as such term is used in sections 13(d) and 14(d) 
    of the Exchange Act) by the acquisition or aggregation of securities is or 
    becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the 
    Company representing 50 percent or more of the combined voting power of the 
    Company's then outstanding securities ordinarily (and apart from rights 
    accruing under special circumstances) having the right to vote at elections 
    of directors (the "Base Capital Stock"); except that any change in the 
    relative beneficial ownership of the Company's securities by any person 
    resulting solely from a reduction in the aggregate number of outstanding 
    shares of Base Capital Stock, and any decrease thereafter in such person's 
    ownership of securities, shall be disregarded until such person increases in 
    any manner, directly or indirectly, such person's beneficial ownership of 
    any securities of the Company. 
 
            (c)  "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended. 
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            (d)  "Committee" shall mean a committee of the Board of Directors, 
as described in Section 3(a). 
 
            (e)  "Company" shall mean Incyte Genomics, Inc. (formerly Incyte 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), a Delaware corporation. 
 
            (f)  "Employee" shall mean (i) any individual who is a common-law 
employee of the Company or of a Subsidiary or (ii) an independent contractor who 
performs services for the Company or a Subsidiary and who is not a member of the 
Board of Directors. Service as an independent contractor shall be considered 
employment for all purposes of the Plan except the second sentence of Section 
4(a). 
 
            (g)  "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended. 
 
            (h)  "Exercise Price" shall mean the amount for which one Share may 
be purchased upon exercise of an Option, as specified by the Committee in the 
applicable Stock Option Agreement. 
 
            (i)  "Fair Market Value," with respect to a Share, shall mean the 
market price of one Share of Stock, determined by the Committee as follows: 
 
            (i)  If the Stock was traded over-the-counter on the date in 
    question but was not traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, then the Fair Market 
    Value shall be equal to the last-transaction price quoted for such date by 
    the OTC Bulletin Board or, if not so quoted, shall be equal to the mean 
    between the last reported representative bid and asked prices quoted for 
    such date by the principal automated inter-dealer quotation system on which 
    the Stock is quoted or, if the Stock is not quoted on any such system, by 
    the "Pink Sheets" published by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc.; 
 
            (ii)  If the Stock was traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, then the 
    Fair Market Value shall be equal to the last reported sale price quoted for 
    such date by The Nasdaq Stock Market; 
 
            (iii)  If the Stock was traded on a United States stock exchange on 
    the date in question, then the Fair Market Value shall be equal to the 
    closing price reported for such date by the applicable composite- 
    transactions report; and 
 
            (iv)  If none of the foregoing provisions is applicable, then the 
    Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Committee in good faith on such 
    basis as it deems appropriate. 
 
In all cases, the determination of Fair Market Value by the Committee shall be 
conclusive and binding on all persons. 
 
            (j)  "ISO" shall mean an employee incentive stock option described 
in section 422(b) of the Code. 
 
            (k)  "Nonstatutory Option" shall mean an employee stock option not 
described in sections 422(b) or 423(b) of the Code. 
 
            (l)  "Offeree" shall mean an individual to whom the Committee has 
offered the right to 
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acquire Shares under the Plan (other than upon exercise of an Option). 
 
            (m)  "Option" shall mean an ISO or Nonstatutory Option granted under 
the Plan and entitling the holder to purchase Shares. 
 
            (n)  "Optionee" shall mean an individual who holds an Option. 
 
            (o)  "Plan" shall mean this Amended and Restated 1991 Stock Plan of 
Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
 
            (p)  "Purchase Price" shall mean the consideration for which one 
Share may be acquired under the Plan (other than upon exercise of an Option), as 
specified by the Committee. 
 
            (q)  "Service" shall mean service as an Employee. 
 
            (r)  "Share" shall mean one share of Stock, as adjusted in 
accordance with Section 9 (if applicable). 
 
            (s)  "Stock" shall mean the Common Stock, $.001 par value, of the 
Company. 
 
            (t)  "Stock Option Agreement" shall mean the agreement between the 
Company and an Optionee which contains the terms, conditions and restrictions 
pertaining to his or her Option. 
 
            (u)  "Stock Purchase Agreement" shall mean the agreement between the 
Company and an Offeree who acquires Shares under the Plan which contains the 
terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining to the acquisition of such Shares. 
 
            (v)  "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation, if the Company and/or 
one or more other Subsidiaries own not less than 50 percent of the total 
combined voting power of all classes of outstanding stock of such corporation. A 
corporation that attains the status of a Subsidiary on a date after the adoption 
of the Plan shall be considered a Subsidiary commencing as of such date. 
 
            (w)  "Total and Permanent Disability" shall mean that the Optionee 
is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any 
medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to 
result in death or which has lasted, or can be expected to last, for a 
continuous period of not less than one year. 
 
SECTION 3.  ADMINISTRATION. 
 
            (a)  Committee Composition. The Plan shall be administered by the 
Committee. The Committee shall consist of two or more directors of the Company 
who shall satisfy the requirements of Rule 16b-3 (or its successor) under the 
Exchange Act with respect to the grant of Awards to persons who are officers or 
directors of the Company under Section 16 of the Exchange Act or the Board 
itself. The Board may also appoint one or more separate committees of the Board, 
each composed of one or more directors of the Company who need not qualify under 
Rule 16b-3, who may administer the Plan with respect to Employees who are not 
considered officers or directors of the Company under Section 16 of the Exchange 
Act, may grant Shares and Options under the Plan to such Employees and may 
determine all terms of such grants. 
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            (b)   Committee Procedures. The Board of Directors shall designate 
one of the members of the Committee as chairman. The Committee may hold meetings 
at such times and places as it shall determine. The acts of a majority of the 
Committee members present at meetings at which a quorum exists, or acts reduced 
to or approved in writing by all Committee members, shall be valid acts of the 
Committee. 
 
            (c)   Committee Responsibilities. Subject to the provisions of the 
Plan, the Committee shall have full authority and discretion to take the 
following actions: 
 
            (i)   To interpret the Plan and to apply its provisions; 
 
            (ii)  To adopt, amend or rescind rules, procedures and forms 
    relating to the Plan; 
 
            (iii) To authorize any person to execute, on behalf of the Company, 
    any instrument required to carry out the purposes of the Plan; 
 
            (iv)  To determine when Shares are to be awarded or offered for sale 
    and when Options are to be granted under the Plan; 
 
            (v)   To select the Offerees and Optionees; 
 
            (vi)  To determine the number of Shares to be offered to each 
    Offeree or to be made subject to each Option; 
 
            (vii) To prescribe the terms and conditions of each award or sale of 
    Shares, including (without limitation) the Purchase Price, and to specify 
    the provisions of the Stock Purchase Agreement relating to such award or 
    sale; 
 
            (viii)  To prescribe the terms and conditions of each Option, 
    including (without limitation) the Exercise Price, to determine whether such 
    Option is to be classified as an ISO or as a Nonstatutory Option, and to 
    specify the provisions of the Stock Option Agreement relating to such 
    Option; 
 
            (ix)    To amend any outstanding Stock Purchase Agreement or Stock 
    Option Agreement, subject to applicable legal restrictions and to the 
    consent of the Offeree or Optionee who entered into such agreement; 
 
            (x)   To prescribe the consideration for the grant of each Option or 
    other right under the Plan and to determine the sufficiency of such 
    consideration; and 
 
            (xi)  To take any other actions deemed necessary or advisable for 
    the administration of the Plan. 
 
All decisions, interpretations and other actions of the Committee shall be final 
and binding on all Offerees, all Optionees, and all persons deriving their 
rights from an Offeree or Optionee.  No member of the Committee shall be liable 
for any action that he or she has taken or has failed to take in good faith with 
respect to the Plan, any Option, or any right to acquire Shares under the Plan. 
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SECTION 4.  ELIGIBILITY. 
 
            (a)  General Rule. Only Employees, as defined in Section 2(f), shall 
be eligible for designation as Optionees or Offerees by the Committee. In 
addition, only individuals who are employed as common-law employees by the 
Company or a Subsidiary shall be eligible for the grant of ISOs. 
 
            (b)  Ten-Percent Stockholders. An Employee who owns more than 10 
percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of outstanding stock 
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall not be eligible for the grant of 
an ISO unless (i) the Exercise Price is at least 110 percent of the Fair Market 
Value of a Share on the date of grant and (ii) such ISO by its terms is not 
exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date of grant. 
 
            (c)  Attribution Rules. For purposes of Subsection (b) above, in 
determining stock ownership, an Employee shall be deemed to own the stock owned, 
directly or indirectly, by or for such Employee's brothers, sisters, spouse, 
ancestors and lineal descendants. Stock owned, directly or indirectly, by or for 
a corporation, partnership, estate or trust shall be deemed to be owned 
proportionately by or for its stockholders, partners or beneficiaries. Stock 
with respect to which such Employee holds an option shall not be counted. 
 
            (d)  Outstanding Stock. For purposes of Subsection (b) above, 
"outstanding stock" shall include all stock actually issued and outstanding 
immediately after the grant. "Outstanding stock" shall not include shares 
authorized for issuance under outstanding options held by the Employee or by any 
other person. 
 
SECTION 5.  STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN. 
 
            (a)  Basic Limitation. Shares offered under the Plan shall be 
authorized but unissued Shares or treasury Shares. The aggregate number of 
Shares which may be issued under the Plan (upon exercise of Options or other 
rights to acquire Shares) shall not exceed 19,900,000 Shares, subject to 
adjustment pursuant to Section 9. The number of Shares that are subject to 
Options or other rights outstanding at any time under the Plan shall not exceed 
the number of Shares that then remain available for issuance under the Plan. The 
Company, during the term of the Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep 
available sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of the Plan. 
 
            (b)  Additional Shares. In the event that any outstanding Option or 
other right for any reason expires or is canceled or otherwise terminated, the 
Shares allocable to the unexercised portion of such Option or other right shall 
again be available for the purposes of the Plan. In the event that Shares issued 
under the Plan are reacquired by the Company pursuant to any forfeiture 
provision, right of repurchase or right of first refusal, such Shares shall 
again be available for the purposes of the Plan. 
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SECTION 6.  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF AWARDS OR SALES. 
 
            (a)  Stock Purchase Agreement. Each award or sale of Shares under 
the Plan (other than upon exercise of an Option) shall be evidenced by a Stock 
Purchase Agreement between the Offeree and the Company. Such award or sale shall 
be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of the Plan and may be subject 
to any other terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Plan and 
which the Committee deems appropriate for inclusion in a Stock Purchase 
Agreement. The provisions of the various Stock Purchase Agreements entered into 
under the Plan need not be identical. 
 
            (b)  Duration of Offers and Nontransferability of Rights. Any right 
to acquire Shares under the Plan (other than an Option) shall automatically 
expire if not exercised by the Offeree within 30 days after the grant of such 
right was communicated to the Offeree by the Committee. Such right shall not be 
transferable and shall be exercisable only by the Offeree to whom such right was 
granted. 
 
            (c)  Purchase Price. The Purchase Price of Shares to be offered 
under the Plan shall not be less than the par value of such Shares. Subject to 
the preceding sentence, the Purchase Price shall be determined by the Committee 
at its sole discretion. The Purchase Price shall be payable in a form described 
in Section 8. 
 
            (d)  Withholding Taxes. As a condition to the award, purchase, 
vesting or sale of Shares, the Offeree shall make such arrangements as the 
Committee may require for the satisfaction of any federal, state, local or 
foreign withholding tax obligations that may arise in connection with such 
Shares. The Committee may permit the Offeree to satisfy all or part of his or 
her tax obligations related to such Shares by having the Company withhold a 
portion of any Shares that otherwise would be issued to him or her or by 
surrendering any Shares that previously were acquired by him or her. The Shares 
withheld or surrendered shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date 
when taxes otherwise would be withheld in cash. The payment of taxes by 
assigning Shares to the Company, if permitted by the Committee, shall be subject 
to such restrictions as the Committee may impose, including any restrictions 
required by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
            (e)  Restrictions on Transfer of Shares. Any Shares awarded or sold 
under the Plan shall be subject to such special forfeiture conditions, rights of 
repurchase, rights of first refusal and other transfer restrictions as the 
Committee may determine. Such restrictions shall be set forth in the applicable 
Stock Purchase Agreement and shall apply in addition to any general restrictions 
that may apply to all holders of Shares. 
 
SECTION 7.  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS. 
 
            (a)  Stock Option Agreement. Each grant of an Option under the Plan 
shall be evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement between the Optionee and the 
Company. Such Option shall be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of 
the Plan and may be subject to any other terms and conditions which are not 
inconsistent with the Plan and which the Committee deems appropriate for 
inclusion in a Stock Option Agreement. The provisions of the various Stock 
Option Agreements entered into under the Plan need not be identical. 
 
            (b)  Number of Shares. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the 
number of Shares that are subject to the Option and shall provide for the 
adjustment of such number in accordance with Section 9. The Stock Option 
Agreement shall also specify whether the Option is an ISO or a 
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Nonstatutory Option. Options granted to any Optionee in a single calendar year 
shall in no event cover more than 800,000 Shares, subject to adjustment in 
accordance with Section 9. 
 
            (c)  Exercise Price. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the 
Exercise Price. The Exercise Price of an ISO shall not be less than 100 percent 
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant, and a higher 
percentage may be required by Section 4(b). The Exercise Price of a Nonstatutory 
Option shall not be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on 
the date of grant. Subject to the preceding two sentences, the Exercise Price 
under any Option shall be determined by the Committee at its sole discretion. 
The Exercise Price shall be payable in a form described in Section 8. 
 
            (d)  Withholding Taxes. As a condition to the exercise of an Option, 
the Optionee shall make such arrangements as the Committee may require for the 
satisfaction of any federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax obligations 
that may arise in connection with such exercise. The Optionee shall also make 
such arrangements as the Committee may require for the satisfaction of any 
federal, state, local or foreign withholding tax obligations that may arise in 
connection with the disposition of Shares acquired by exercising an Option. The 
Committee may permit the Optionee to satisfy all or part of his or her tax 
obligations related to the Option by having the Company withhold a portion of 
any Shares that otherwise would be issued to him or her or by surrendering any 
Shares that previously were acquired by him or her. Such Shares shall be valued 
at their Fair Market Value on the date when taxes otherwise would be withheld in 
cash. The payment of taxes by assigning Shares to the Company, if permitted by 
the Committee, shall be subject to such restrictions as the Committee may 
impose, including any restrictions required by rules of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 
 
            (e)  Exercisability. Each Stock Option Agreement shall specify the 
date when all or any installment of the Option is to become exercisable. A Stock 
Option Agreement may provide for accelerated exercisability in the event of the 
Optionee's death, Total and Permanent Disability or retirement or other events. 
 
            (f)  Effect of Change in Control. The Committee may determine, at 
the time of granting an Option or thereafter, that such Option shall become 
exercisable on an accelerated basis in the event that a Change in Control occurs 
with respect to the Company. If the Committee finds that there is a reasonable 
possibility that, within the succeeding six months, a Change in Control will 
occur with respect to the Company, then the Committee may determine that all 
outstanding Options shall be exercisable on an accelerated basis. 
 
            (g)  Term. The Stock Option Agreement shall specify the term of the 
Option. The term shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant, except as 
otherwise provided in Section 4(b). Subject to the preceding sentence, the 
Committee at its sole discretion shall determine when an Option is to expire. 
 
            (h)  Nontransferability. Except as may be provided in the applicable 
Stock Option Agreement with respect to a Nonstatutory Option, no Option shall be 
transferable by the Optionee other than by will, by beneficiary designation 
delivered to the Company, or by the laws of descent and distribution. An Option 
may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee only by the Optionee or by 
the Optionee's guardian or legal representative. No Option or interest therein 
may be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated by the Optionee during his 
or her lifetime, whether by operation of law or otherwise, or be made subject to 
execution, attachment or similar process. 
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            (i)   Termination of Service (Except by Death). Except as may be 
provided in the applicable Stock Option Agreement, if an Optionee's Service 
terminates for any reason other than the Optionee's death, then such Optionee's 
Option(s) shall expire on the earliest of the following occasions: 
 
            (i)   The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (g) 
    above; 
 
            (ii)  The date 90 days after the termination of the Optionee's 
    Service for any reason other than Total and Permanent Disability; or 
 
            (iii) The date six months after the termination of the Optionee's 
    Service by reason of Total and Permanent Disability. 
 
The Optionee may exercise all or part of his or her Option(s) at any time before 
the expiration of such Option(s) under the preceding sentence, but only to the 
extent that such Option(s) had become exercisable before the Optionee's Service 
terminated or became exercisable as a result of the termination.  The balance of 
such Option(s) shall lapse when the Optionee's Service terminates.  In the event 
that the Optionee dies after the termination of the Optionee's Service but 
before the expiration of the Optionee's Option(s), all or part of such Option(s) 
may be exercised (prior to expiration) by the executors or administrators of the 
Optionee's estate or by any person who has acquired such Option(s) directly from 
the Optionee by bequest, beneficiary designation or inheritance, but only to the 
extent that such Option(s) had become exercisable before the Optionee's Service 
terminated or became exercisable as a result of the termination. 
 
            (j)   Leaves of Absence. Except as may be provided in the applicable 
Stock Option Agreement, for purposes of Subsection (i) above, Service shall be 
deemed to continue while the Optionee is on military leave, sick leave or other 
bona fide leave of absence (as determined by the Committee). The foregoing 
notwithstanding, in the case of an ISO granted under the Plan, Service shall not 
be deemed to continue beyond the first 90 days of such leave, unless the 
Optionee's reemployment rights are guaranteed by statute or by contract. 
 
            (k)   Death of Optionee. Except as may be provided in the applicable 
Stock Option Agreement, if an Optionee dies while he or she is in Service, then 
such Optionee's Option(s) shall expire on the earlier of the following dates: 
 
            (i)   The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (g) 
    above; or 
 
            (ii)  The date six months after the Optionee's death. 
 
All or part of the Optionee's Option(s) may be exercised at any time before the 
expiration of such Option(s) under the preceding sentence by the executors or 
administrators of the Optionee's estate or by any person who has acquired such 
Option(s) directly from the Optionee by bequest, beneficiary designation or 
inheritance, but only to the extent that such Option(s) had become exercisable 
before the Optionee's death or became exercisable as a result of the Optionee's 
death.  The balance of such Option(s) shall lapse when the Optionee dies. 
 
            (l)   No Rights as a Stockholder. An Optionee, or a transferee of an 
Optionee, shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to any Shares 
covered by his or her Option until he or she 
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becomes entitled, pursuant to the terms of such Option, to receive such Shares. 
No adjustments shall be made, except as provided in Section 9. 
 
            (m)  Modification, Extension and Assumption of Options.  Within the 
limitations of the Plan, the Committee may modify, extend or assume outstanding 
Options or may accept the cancellation of outstanding Options (whether granted 
by the Company or another issuer) in return for the grant of new Options for the 
same or a different number of Shares and at the same or a different Exercise 
Price.  The foregoing notwithstanding, no modification of an Option shall, 
without the consent of the Optionee, impair such Optionee's rights or increase 
his or her obligations under such Option. 
 
            (n)  Restrictions on Transfer of Shares. Any Shares issued upon 
exercise of an Option may be subject to such special forfeiture conditions, 
rights of repurchase, rights of first refusal and other transfer restrictions as 
the Committee may determine. Such restrictions shall be set forth in the 
applicable Stock Option Agreement and shall apply in addition to any general 
restrictions that may apply to all holders of Shares. 
 
SECTION 8.  PAYMENT FOR SHARES. 
 
            (a)  General Rule. The entire Purchase Price or Exercise Price of 
Shares issued under the Plan shall be payable in lawful money of the United 
States of America at the time when such Shares are purchased, except as provided 
in Subsections (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f) below. 
 
            (b)  Surrender of Stock. To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement 
so provides, payment may be made all or in part with Shares which have already 
been owned by the Optionee or the Optionee's representative for more than six 
months and which are surrendered to the Company in good form for transfer. Such 
Shares shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date when the new 
Shares are purchased under the Plan. 
 
            (c)  Services Rendered. At the discretion of the Committee, Shares 
may be awarded under the Plan in consideration of services rendered to the 
Company or a Subsidiary prior to the award. If Shares are awarded without the 
payment of a Purchase Price in cash, the Committee shall make a determination 
(at the time of the award) of the value of the services rendered by the Offeree 
and the sufficiency of the consideration to meet the requirements of Section 
6(c). 
 
            (d)  Promissory Note. To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement or 
Stock Purchase Agreement so provides, a portion of the Exercise Price or 
Purchase Price (as the case may be) of Shares issued under the Plan may be paid 
with a full-recourse promissory note, provided that (i) the par value of such 
Shares must be paid in lawful money of the United States of America at the time 
when such Shares are purchased, (ii) the Shares are pledged as security for 
payment of the principal amount of the promissory note and interest thereon and 
(iii) the interest rate payable under the terms of the promissory note shall not 
be less than the minimum rate (if any) required to avoid the imputation of 
additional interest under the Code. Subject to the foregoing, the Committee (at 
its sole discretion) shall specify the term, interest rate, amortization 
requirements (if any) and other provisions of such note. 
 
            (e)  Exercise/Sale. To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement so 
provides, payment may be made all or in part by the delivery (on a form 
prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker 
approved by the Company to sell Shares and to deliver all or part of the sales 
proceeds to the Company in payment of all or part of the Exercise Price and any 
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withholding taxes. 
 
            (f)  Exercise/Pledge.  To the extent that a Stock Option Agreement 
so provides, payment may be made all or in part by the delivery (on a form 
prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to pledge Shares to a 
securities broker or lender approved by the Company, as security for a loan, and 
to deliver all or part of the loan proceeds to the Company in payment of all or 
part of the Exercise Price and any withholding taxes. 
 
SECTION 9.  ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES. 
 
            (a)  General. In the event of a subdivision of the outstanding 
Stock, a declaration of a dividend payable in Shares, a declaration of a 
dividend payable in a form other than Shares in an amount that has a material 
effect on the value of Shares, a combination or consolidation of the outstanding 
Stock into a lesser number of Shares, a recapitalization, a spinoff, a 
reclassification or a similar occurrence, the Committee shall make appropriate 
adjustments in one or more of (i) the number of Shares available for future 
grants under Section 5, (ii) the limit set forth in Section 7(b), (iii) the 
number of Shares covered by each outstanding Option or (iv) the Exercise Price 
under each outstanding Option. 
 
            (b)  Reorganizations. In the event that the Company is a party to a 
merger or other reorganization, outstanding Options shall be subject to the 
agreement of merger or reorganization. Such agreement may provide, without 
limitation, (i) for the assumption of outstanding Options by the surviving 
corporation or its parent, (ii) for their continuation by the Company, if the 
Company is a surviving corporation, (iii) for payment of a cash settlement equal 
to the difference between the amount to be paid for one Share pursuant to such 
agreement and the Exercise Price or (iv) for the acceleration of their 
exercisability followed by the cancellation of Options not exercised, in all 
cases without the Optionees' consent. Any cancellation shall not occur until 
after such acceleration is effective and Optionees have been notified of such 
acceleration. 
 
            (c)  Reservation of Rights. Except as provided in this Section 9, an 
Optionee or Offeree shall have no rights by reason of (i) any subdivision or 
consolidation of shares of stock of any class, (ii) the payment of any dividend 
or (iii) any other increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any 
class. Any issue by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities 
convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall not affect, and no 
adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or 
Exercise Price of Shares subject to an Option. The grant of an Option pursuant 
to the Plan shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Company to 
make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital 
or business structure, to merge or consolidate or to dissolve, liquidate, sell 
or transfer all or any part of its business or assets. 
 
SECTION 10.  SECURITIES LAWS. 
 
            Shares shall not be issued under the Plan unless the issuance and 
delivery of such Shares comply with (or are exempt from) all applicable 
requirements of law, including (without limitation) the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended, the Exchange Act, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, 
state securities laws and regulations, and the regulations of any stock exchange 
on which the Company's securities may then be listed. 
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SECTION 11.  NO EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS. 
 
             No provision of the Plan, nor any right or Option granted under the 
Plan, shall be construed to give any person any right to become, to be treated 
as, or to remain an Employee. The Company and its Subsidiaries reserve the right 
to terminate any person's Service at any time and for any reason. 
 
SECTION 12.  DURATION AND AMENDMENTS. 
 
             (a)  Term of the Plan. The Plan, as amended and restated as set 
forth herein, shall become effective as of February 15, 2001. In the event the 
Company's stockholders fail to approve the amendment to the Plan increasing the 
number of shares issuable hereunder at the 2001 annual meeting of stockholders, 
any Option grants or Stock awards made in excess of an aggregate of 17,400,000 
Shares shall be null and void. The Plan shall terminate automatically on 
February 15, 2011 and may be terminated on any earlier date pursuant to 
Subsection (b) below. 
 
             (b)  Right to Amend or Terminate the Plan. The Board of Directors 
may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time and for any reason. An 
amendment of the Plan shall be subject to the approval of the Company's 
stockholders to the extent required by applicable laws, regulations, rules, 
listing standards or other requirements, including (without limitation) Rule 
16b-3 under the Exchange Act. Stockholder approval shall not be required for any 
other amendment of the Plan. 
 
             (c)  Effect of Amendment or Termination. No Shares shall be issued 
or sold under the Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an 
Option granted prior to such termination. The termination of the Plan, or any 
amendment thereof, shall not affect any Share previously issued or any Option 
previously granted under the Plan. 
 
SECTION 13.  EXECUTION. 
 
             To record the amendment and restatement of the Plan by the Board of 
Directors on February 15, 2001, the Company has caused its authorized officer to 
execute the same. 
 
 
                                           INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
 
 
                                           By  /s/ Roy A. Whitfield 
                                              __________________________________ 
 
                                           Its  Chief Executive Officer 
                                               _________________________________ 
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                                                                    Exhibit 10.4 
 
                             AMENDED AND RESTATED 
                     1993 DIRECTORS' STOCK OPTION PLAN OF 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
                           (As Amended May 1, 2001) 
 
SECTION 1.  INTRODUCTION. 
 
     The Plan was adopted on July 28, 1993, amended and restated as of August 3, 
1993, amended as of March 22, 1995, amended and restated as of March 18, 1998, 
amended and restated as of March 30, 2001, and amended on May 1, 2001. The 
purpose of the Plan is to offer the Company's Nonemployee Directors an 
opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the success of the Company, or 
to increase such interest, by purchasing Shares of the Company's Stock. The Plan 
seeks to achieve this purpose by providing for the grant of nonstatutory options 
to purchase Stock. 
 
     The Plan is intended to comply in all respects with Rule 16b-3 (or its 
successor) under the Exchange Act and shall be construed accordingly. 
 
SECTION 2.  DEFINITIONS. 
 
     (a)    "Board of Directors" shall mean the Board of Directors of the 
Company, as constituted from time to time. 
 
     (b)    "Change in Control" shall mean the occurrence of either of the 
following events: 
 
            (i)     A change in the composition of the Board of Directors, as a 
     result of which fewer than one-half of the incumbent directors are 
     directors who either: 
 
                    (A)  Had been directors of the Company 24 months prior to 
            such change; or 
 
                    (B)  Were elected, or nominated for election, to the Board 
            of Directors with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of 
            the directors who had been directors of the Company 24 months prior 
            to such change and who were still in office at the time of the 
            election or nomination; or 
 
            (ii)    Any "person" (as such term is used in sections 13(d) and 
     14(d) of the Exchange Act) by the acquisition or aggregation of securities 
     is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities 
     of the Company representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the 
     Company's then outstanding securities ordinarily (and apart from rights 
     accruing under special circumstances) having the right to vote at elections 
     of directors (the "Base Capital Stock"); except that any change in the 
     relative beneficial ownership of the Company's securities by any person 
     resulting solely from a reduction in the aggregate number of outstanding 
     shares of Base Capital Stock, and any decrease thereafter in such person's 
     ownership of securities, shall be 



 
 
     disregarded until such person increases in any manner, directly or 
     indirectly, such person's beneficial ownership of any securities of the 
     Company. 
 
     (c)  "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
     (d)  "Company" shall mean Incyte Genomics, Inc. (formerly Incyte 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), a Delaware corporation. 
 
     (e)  "Employee" shall mean an employee (within the meaning of section 
3401(c) of the Code and the regulations thereunder) of the Company or of a 
Subsidiary of the Company. 
 
     (f)  "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. 
 
     (g)  "Exercise Price" shall mean the amount for which one Share may be 
purchased upon exercise of an Option, as specified in the applicable Stock 
Option Agreement. 
 
     (h)  "Fair Market Value" shall mean the market price of Stock, determined 
by the Board of Directors as follows: 
 
          (i)    If Stock was traded over-the-counter on the date in question 
     but was not traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, then the Fair Market Value 
     shall be equal to the mean between the last reported representative bid and 
     asked prices quoted for such date by the principal automated inter-dealer 
     quotation system on which Stock is quoted or, if the Stock is not quoted on 
     any such system, by the "Pink Sheets" published by the National Quotation 
     Bureau, Inc.; 
 
          (ii)   If Stock was traded over-the-counter on the date in question 
     and was traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, then the Fair Market Value shall 
     be equal to the last-transaction price quoted for such date by The Nasdaq 
     Stock Market; 
 
          (iii)  If Stock was traded on a stock exchange on the date in 
     question, then the Fair Market Value shall be equal to the closing price 
     reported for such date by the applicable composite-transactions report; and 
 
          (iv)   If none of the foregoing provisions is applicable, then the 
     Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Board of Directors in good 
     faith on such basis as it deems appropriate. 
 
In all cases, the determination of Fair Market Value by the Board of Directors 
shall be conclusive and binding on all persons. 
 
     (i)  "Nonemployee Director" shall mean a member of the Board of Directors 
who (i) is not an Employee, (ii) does not own five percent or more of the Stock, 
(iii) does not represent an owner of five percent or more of the Stock and (iv) 
does not join the Board of Directors pursuant to, or as a result of, a 
contractual arrangement between the Company and a third party. 
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     (j)  "Nonstatutory Option" shall mean a stock option not described in 
sections 422(b) or 423(b) of the Code. 
 
     (k)  "Option" shall mean a Nonstatutory Option granted under the Plan and 
entitling the holder to purchase Shares. 
 
     (l)  "Optionee" shall mean an individual who holds an Option. 
 
     (m)  "Plan" shall mean this 1993 Directors' Stock Option Plan of Incyte 
Genomics, Inc. (formerly Incyte Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), as it may be amended 
from time to time. 
 
     (n)  "Reverse Split" shall mean the one-for-two reverse split of the Stock 
authorized by the Board of Directors prior to the initial adoption of the Plan. 
 
     (o)  "Service" shall mean service as a member of the Board of Directors, 
whether or not as a Nonemployee Director. 
 
     (p)  "Share" shall mean one share of Stock, as adjusted in accordance with 
Section 6 (if applicable). All references to numbers of Shares in Section 3 
hereof give effect to the Reverse Split and the 100% stock dividends paid in 
November 1997 and August 2000. 
 
     (q)  "Stock" shall mean the Common Stock ($.001 par value) of the Company. 
 
     (r)  "Stock Option Agreement" shall mean the agreement between the Company 
and an Optionee that contains the terms, conditions and restrictions pertaining 
to his or her Option. 
 
     (s)  "Subsidiary" shall mean any corporation, if the Company and/or one or 
more other Subsidiaries own not less than 50 percent of the total combined 
voting power of all classes of outstanding stock of such corporation. A 
corporation that attains the status of a Subsidiary on a date after the adoption 
of the Plan shall be considered a Subsidiary commencing as of such date. 
 
     (t)  "Total and Permanent Disability" shall mean that the Optionee is 
unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically 
determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in 
death or which has lasted, or can be expected to last, for a continuous period 
of not less than one year. 
 
SECTION 3.  STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN. 
 
     (a)  Basic Limitation.  Shares offered under the Plan shall be authorized 
          ---------------- 
but unissued Shares or treasury Shares. The aggregate number of Shares which may 
be issued under the Plan shall not exceed 800,000 Shares, subject to adjustment 
pursuant to Section 6. The number of Shares that are subject to Options at any 
time shall not exceed the number of Shares that then remain available for 
issuance under the Plan. The Company, during the term of the Plan, shall at all 
times reserve and keep available sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements 
of the Plan. 
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     (b)  Additional Shares.  In the event that any outstanding Option for any 
          ----------------- 
reason expires or is canceled or otherwise terminated, the Shares allocable to 
the unexercised portion of such Option shall again be available for the purposes 
of the Plan. 
 
SECTION 4. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS. 
 
     (a)  Stock Option Agreement.  Each grant of an Option under the Plan shall 
          ---------------------- 
be evidenced by a Stock Option Agreement between the Optionee and the Company. 
Such Option shall be subject to all applicable terms and conditions of the Plan 
and may be subject to any other terms and conditions that are not inconsistent 
with the Plan and that the Board of Directors deems appropriate for inclusion in 
a Stock Option Agreement. 
 
     (b)  Initial Grants.  Each new Nonemployee Director who first joins the 
          -------------- 
Board of Directors after March 30, 2001 shall receive an Option covering 20,000 
Shares on the first business day after his or her initial election to the Board 
of Directors. The number of Shares included in an Option shall be subject to 
adjustment under Section 6. 
 
     (c)  Annual Grants.  On the first business day following the conclusion of 
          ------------- 
each regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders, each Nonemployee 
Director who will continue serving as a member of the Board of Directors 
thereafter shall receive an Option covering 5,000 Shares, subject to adjustment 
under Section 6. Each Nonemployee Director who is not initially elected at a 
regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders shall receive an Option to 
purchase a pro rata portion of 5,000 Shares within ten business days of such 
Director's election based on the number of full months remaining from date of 
election until the next regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders 
divided by twelve. Any fractional shares resulting from such calculation shall 
be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 
 
     (d)  Exercise Price. The Exercise Price under each Option shall be equal to 
          -------------- 
100 percent of the Fair Market Value of the Stock subject to such Option on the 
date when such Option is granted. The entire Exercise Price of Shares issued 
under the Plan shall be payable in cash when such Shares are purchased, except 
as follows: 
 
          (i)    Payment may be made all or in part with Shares that have 
     already been owned by the Optionee or the Optionee's representative for 
     more than six months and that are surrendered to the Company in good form 
     for transfer. Such Shares shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the 
     date when the new Shares are purchased under the Plan. 
 
          (ii)   Payment may be made all or in part by the delivery (on a form 
     prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to a securities 
     broker approved by the Company to sell Shares and to deliver all or part of 
     the sales proceeds to the Company in payment of all or part of the Exercise 
     Price and any withholding taxes. 
 
          (iii)  Payment may be made all or in part by the delivery (on a form 
     prescribed by the Company) of an irrevocable direction to pledge Shares to 
     a securities broker or lender approved by the Company, as security for a 
     loan, and to deliver all or part of the 
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     loan proceeds to the Company in payment of all or part of the Exercise 
     Price and any withholding taxes. 
 
     (e)  Vesting.  Each Option granted under Subsection (b) above shall become 
          ------- 
exercisable (i) as to one-fourth (1/4) of the total number of shares covered by 
such Option on the first anniversary of the date of grant and (ii) as to one- 
forty-eighth (1/48) of the total number of shares covered by such Option on each 
of a series of thirty-six (36) monthly installments thereafter. Except as set 
forth in the next succeeding sentence and in the last sentence of this 
Subsection (e), each Option granted under Subsection (c) above shall become 
exercisable in full on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Except as set 
forth in the last sentence of this Subsection (e), each Option granted under 
Subsection (c) to Nonemployee Directors who were not initially elected at a 
regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders shall become exercisable in 
full at the next regular annual meeting of the Company's stockholders following 
the date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Option granted under 
Subsection (c) above that is outstanding shall become exercisable in full in the 
event that a Change in Control occurs with respect to the Company. 
 
     (f)  Term of Options. Subject to Subsections (g) and (h) below, each Option 
          --------------- 
shall expire on the 10th anniversary of the date when such Option was granted. 
 
     (g)  Termination of Service (Except by Death). If an Optionee's Service 
          ---------------------------------------- 
terminates for any reason other than death, then his or her Options shall expire 
on the earliest of the following occasions: 
 
          (i)    The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (f) 
     above; 
 
          (ii)   The date 24 months after the termination of the Optionee's 
     Service, if the termination occurs because of his or her Total and 
     Permanent Disability; or 
 
          (iii)  The date six months after the termination of the Optionee's 
     Service for any reason other than Total and Permanent Disability. 
 
The Optionee may exercise all or part of his or her Options at any time before 
the expiration of such Options under the preceding sentence, but only to the 
extent that such Options had become exercisable before his or her Service 
terminated. The balance of such Options shall lapse when the Optionee's Service 
terminates. In the event that the Optionee dies after the termination of his or 
her Service but before the expiration of his or her Options, all or part of such 
Options may be exercised at any time prior to their expiration by the executors 
or administrators of the Optionee's estate or by any person who has acquired 
such Options directly from him or her by bequest, inheritance or beneficiary 
designation under the Plan, but only to the extent that such Options had become 
exercisable before his or her Service terminated. 
 
     (h)  Death of Optionee.  If an Optionee dies while he or she is in Service, 
          ----------------- 
then his or her Options shall expire on the earlier of the following dates: 
 
          (i) The expiration date determined pursuant to Subsection (f) above; 
     or 
 
                                      -5- 



 
 
            (ii)   The date 24 months after his or her death. 
 
All or part of the Optionee's Options may be exercised at any time before the 
expiration of such Options under the preceding sentence by the executors or 
administrators of his or her estate or by any person who has acquired such 
Options directly from him or her by bequest, inheritance or beneficiary 
designation under the Plan. 
 
     (i)    Nontransferability.  No Option shall be transferable by the Optionee 
            ------------------ 
other than by will, by written beneficiary designation or by the laws of descent 
and distribution. An Option may be exercised during the lifetime of the Optionee 
only by the Optionee or by the Optionee's guardian or legal representative. No 
Option or interest therein may be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated 
by the Optionee during his or her lifetime, whether by operation of law or 
otherwise, or be made subject to execution, attachment or similar process. 
 
     (j)    Stockholder Approval. Subsection (e) above notwithstanding, no 
            -------------------- 
Option shall be exercisable under any circumstances unless and until the 
Company's stockholders have approved the Plan. 
 
SECTION 5.  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 
     (a)    No Rights as a Stockholder. An Optionee, or a transferee of an 
            -------------------------- 
Optionee, shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to any Shares 
covered by his or her Option until he or she becomes entitled, pursuant to the 
terms of such Option, to receive such Shares. No adjustment shall be made, 
except as provided in Section 6. 
 
     (b)    Modification, Extension and Assumption of Options.  Within the 
            ------------------------------------------------- 
limitations of the Plan, the Board of Directors may modify, extend or assume 
outstanding Options or may accept the cancellation of outstanding Options 
(whether granted by the Company or another issuer) in return for the grant of 
new Options for the same or a different number of Shares and at the same or a 
different Exercise Price. The foregoing notwithstanding, no modification of an 
Option shall, without the consent of the Optionee, impair such Optionee's rights 
or increase his or her obligations under such Option. 
 
     (c)    Restrictions on Issuance of Shares. Shares shall not be issued under 
            ---------------------------------- 
the Plan unless the issuance and delivery of such Shares comply with (or are 
exempt from) all applicable requirements of law, including (without limitation) 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder, state securities laws and regulations, and the regulations of any 
stock exchange on which the Company's securities may then be listed. The Company 
may impose restrictions upon the sale, pledge or other transfer of such Shares 
(including the placement of appropriate legends on stock certificates) if, in 
the judgment of the Company and its counsel, such restrictions are necessary or 
desirable in order to achieve compliance with the provisions of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, the securities laws of any state or any other law. 
 
     (d)    Withholding Taxes. The Company's obligation to deliver Stock upon 
            ----------------- 
the exercise of an Option shall be subject to any applicable tax withholding 
requirements. 
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     (e)    No Retention Rights. No provision of the Plan, nor any Option 
            ------------------- 
granted under the Plan, shall be construed as giving any person the right to be 
elected as, or to be nominated for election as, a Nonemployee Director or to 
remain a Nonemployee Director. 
 
SECTION 6.  ADJUSTMENT OF SHARES. 
 
     (a)    General.  In the event of a subdivision of the outstanding Stock, a 
            ------- 
declaration of a dividend payable in Shares, a declaration of a dividend payable 
in a form other than Shares in an amount that has a material effect on the value 
of Shares, a combination or consolidation of the outstanding Stock into a lesser 
number of Shares, a recapitalization, a spin-off, a reclassification or a 
similar occurrence, the Board of Directors shall make appropriate adjustments in 
one or more of (i) the number of Options available for future grants under 
Section 3, (ii) the number of Shares to be covered by each new Option under 
Section 4, (iii) the number of Shares covered by each outstanding Option or (iv) 
the Exercise Price under each outstanding Option. 
 
     (b)    Reorganizations. In the event that the Company is a party to a 
            --------------- 
merger or other reorganization, outstanding Options shall be subject to the 
agreement of merger or reorganization. Such agreement shall provide (i) for the 
assumption of outstanding Options by the surviving corporation or its parent, 
(ii) for their continuation by the Company, if the Company is a surviving 
corporation, (iii) for payment of a cash settlement equal to the difference 
between the amount to be paid for one Share pursuant to such agreement and the 
Exercise Price or (iv) for the acceleration of their exercisability followed by 
the cancellation of Options not exercised, in all cases without the Optionees' 
consent. Any cancellation shall not occur until after such acceleration is 
effective and Optionees have been notified of such acceleration. 
 
     (c)    Reservation of Rights.  Except as provided in this Section 6, an 
            --------------------- 
Optionee shall have no rights by reason of (i) any subdivision or consolidation 
of shares of stock of any class, (ii) the payment of any dividend or (iii) any 
other increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any class. Any 
issue by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible 
into shares of stock of any class, shall not affect, and no adjustment by reason 
thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or Exercise Price of Shares 
subject to an Option. The grant of an Option pursuant to the Plan shall not 
affect in any way the right or power of the Company to make adjustments, 
reclassifications, reorganizations or changes of its capital or business 
structure, to merge or consolidate or to dissolve, liquidate, sell or transfer 
all or any part of its business or assets. 
 
SECTION 7.  DURATION AND AMENDMENTS. 
 
     (a)    Term of the Plan. The Plan shall become effective on the date of its 
            ---------------- 
adoption by the Board of Directors, subject to approval of the Company's 
stockholders. The Plan shall remain in effect until it is terminated under 
Subsection (b) below. 
 
     (b)    Right to Amend or Terminate the Plan. The Board of Directors may 
            ------------------------------------ 
amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time and for any reason, except that 
the provisions of the Plan relating to the amount, price and timing of Option 
grants shall not be amended more than 
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once in any six-month period. Any amendment of the Plan shall be subject to the 
approval of the Company's stockholders to the extent required by applicable 
laws, regulations, rules, listing standards or other requirements, including 
(without limitation) Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. Stockholder approval 
shall not be required for any other amendment of the Plan. 
 
     (c)  Effect of Amendment or Termination.  No Shares shall be issued or sold 
          ---------------------------------- 
under the Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an Option 
granted prior to such termination.  The termination of the Plan, or any 
amendment thereof, shall not affect any Option previously granted under the 
Plan. 
 
SECTION 8.  EXECUTION. 
 
     To record the amendment of the Plan as of May 1, 2001, the Company has 
caused its authorized officer to execute the same. 
 
 
                                  INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
                                  By  /s/ Roy A. Whitfield 
                                      ___________________________________ 
 
                                  Title  Chief Executive Officer 
                                         ________________________________ 
 
 
 
                                      -8- 



 
 
                                                                   Exhibit 10.15 
 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
                       1997 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
                  (as amended and restated February 15, 2001) 
 
     The following constitute the provisions of the 1997 Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan of Incyte Genomics, Inc. (formerly Incyte Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), as 
amended and restated February 15, 2001. 
 
     1.   Purpose.  The purpose of the Plan is to provide employees of the 
          ------- 
Company and its Designated Subsidiaries with an opportunity to purchase Common 
Stock of the Company through accumulated payroll deductions. It is the intention 
of the Company to have the Plan qualify as an "Employee Stock Purchase Plan" 
under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The 
provisions of the Plan, accordingly, shall be construed so as to extend and 
limit participation in a manner consistent with the requirements of that section 
of the Code. 
 
     2.   Definitions. 
          ----------- 
 
          (a)  "Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company. 
                ----- 
          (b)  "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
                ---- 
          (c)  "Common Stock" shall mean the Common Stock, $.001 par value, of 
                ------------ 
Incyte Genomics, Inc. 
 
          (d)  "Company" shall mean Incyte Genomics, Inc. (formerly Incyte 
                ------- 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and, as the context may require, any Designated 
Subsidiary of the Company. 
 
          (e)  "Compensation" shall mean all cash salary, wages, commissions and 
                ------------ 
bonuses, but shall not include any imputed income or income arising from the 
exercise or disposition of equity compensation. 
 
          (f)  "Designated Subsidiary" shall mean any Subsidiary which has been 
                --------------------- 
designated by the Board from time to time in its sole discretion as eligible to 
participate in the Plan. 
 
          (g)  "Employee" means an individual paid in a manner that results in 
                -------- 
the issuance of a Form W-2 by the Company, or a Subsidiary, and with respect to 
whom the Company or a Designated Subsidiary has withheld income and employment 
taxes from that individual's compensation and whose customary employment with 
the Company is at least twenty (20) hours per week and more than five (5) months 
in any calendar year. An individual who has not been treated as an Employee by 
the Company (or Parent or Subsidiary, as applicable) in a particular period 
shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan for that period, even if a 
government agency, court of law or any person later determines that such 
individual is or was a common-law employee during all 
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or any portion of that period. For purposes of the Plan, the employment 
relationship shall be treated as continuing intact while the individual is on 
sick leave or other leave of absence approved by the Company. Where the period 
of leave exceeds 90 days and the individual's right to reemployment is not 
guaranteed either by statute or by contract, the employment relationship shall 
be deemed to have terminated on the 91st day of such leave. 
 
          (h)  "Enrollment Date" shall mean the first day of each Offering 
                --------------- 
Period. 
 
          (i)  "Exercise Date" shall mean the last Trading Day of each Purchase 
                ------------- 
Period. 
 
          (j)  "Fair Market Value" shall mean, as of any date, the value of one 
                ----------------- 
share of Common Stock determined as follows: 
 
                    (1)  If the Common Stock was traded over-the-counter on the 
     date in question but was not traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, then the 
     Fair Market Value shall be equal to the mean between the last reported 
     representative bid and asked prices quoted for such date by the principal 
     automated inter-dealer quotation system on which such series of Stock is 
     quoted or, if such series of Stock is not quoted on any such system, by the 
     "Pink Sheets" published by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc.; 
 
                    (2)  If the Common Stock was traded on The Nasdaq Stock 
     Market, then the Fair Market Value shall be equal to the last reported sale 
     price quoted for such date by The Nasdaq Stock Market; 
 
                    (3)  If the Common Stock was traded on a United States stock 
     exchange on the date in question, then the Fair Market Value shall be equal 
     to the closing price reported for such date by the applicable composite- 
     transactions report; and 
 
                    (4)  If none of the foregoing provisions is applicable, then 
     the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Board in good faith on 
     such basis as it deems appropriate. 
 
In all cases, the determination of Fair Market Value by the Board shall be 
conclusive and binding on all persons. 
 
          (k)  "Offering Periods" shall mean the periods of approximately 
                ---------------- 
twenty-four (24) months during which an option granted pursuant to the Plan may 
be exercised, commencing on the first Trading Day on or after May 1 and November 
1 of each year and terminating on the last Trading Day in the periods ending 
twenty-four months later. The duration and timing of Offering Periods may be 
changed pursuant to Section 4 of this Plan. 
 
          (l)  "Plan" shall mean this Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 
                ---- 
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          (m)  "Purchase Price" shall mean an amount equal to 85% of the Fair 
                -------------- 
Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the Enrollment Date or on the 
Exercise Date, whichever is lower. 
 
          (n)  "Purchase Period" shall mean the approximately six month period 
                --------------- 
commencing after one Exercise Date and ending with the next Exercise Date, 
except that the first Purchase Period of any Offering Period shall commence on 
the Enrollment Date and end with the next Exercise Date. 
 
          (o)  "Reserves" shall mean the number of shares of Common Stock 
                -------- 
covered by each option under the Plan which have not yet been exercised and the 
number of shares of Common Stock which have been authorized for issuance under 
the Plan but not yet placed under option. 
 
          (p)  "Subsidiary" shall mean a corporation, domestic or foreign, of 
                ---------- 
which not less than 50% of the voting shares are held by the Company or a 
Subsidiary, whether or not such corporation now exists or is hereafter organized 
or acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary. 
 
          (q)  "Trading Day" shall mean a day on which national stock exchanges 
                ----------- 
and The Nasdaq Stock Market (or any successor market system) are open for 
trading. 
 
     3.   Eligibility. 
          ----------- 
 
          (a)  Any Employee who has been employed by the Company for one month 
or more on a given Enrollment Date shall be eligible to participate in the Plan. 
 
          (b)  Any provisions of the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, no 
Employee shall be granted an option under the Plan (i) to the extent that, 
immediately after the grant, such Employee (or any other person whose stock 
would be attributed to such Employee pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) 
would own capital stock of the Company and/or hold outstanding options to 
purchase such stock possessing five percent (5%) or more of the total combined 
voting power or value of all classes of the capital stock of the Company or of 
any Subsidiary, or (ii) to the extent that his or her rights to purchase stock 
under all employee stock purchase plans of the Company and its subsidiaries 
accrues at a rate which exceeds Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) worth of 
stock (determined at the fair market value of the shares at the time such option 
is granted) for each calendar year in which such option is outstanding at any 
time. 
 
     4.   Offering Periods.  The Plan shall be implemented by consecutive, 
          ---------------- 
overlapping Offering Periods with a new Offering Period commencing on the first 
Trading Day on or after May 1 and November 1 each year, or on such other dates 
as the Board shall determine, and continuing thereafter until terminated in 
accordance with Section 19 hereof. The Board or a committee thereof shall have 
the power to change the duration of Offering Periods (including the commencement 
dates thereof) and Purchase Periods thereunder with respect to future offerings 
without stockholder approval if such 
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change is announced at least five (5) days prior to the scheduled beginning of 
the first Offering Period to be affected thereafter. 
 
     5.   Participation. 
          ------------- 
 
          (a)  An eligible Employee may become a participant in the Plan by 
completing a subscription agreement authorizing payroll deductions in the form 
of Exhibit A to this Plan and filing it with the Company's stock administrator 
not later than ten (10) business days prior to the applicable Enrollment Date. 
 
          (b)  Payroll deductions for a participant shall commence on the first 
payroll following the Enrollment Date and shall end on the last payroll in the 
Offering Period to which such authorization is applicable, unless sooner 
terminated by the participant as provided in Section 10 hereof. 
 
     6.   Payroll Deductions. 
          ------------------ 
 
          (a)  At the time a participant files his or her subscription 
agreement, he or she shall elect to have payroll deductions made on each pay day 
during the Offering Period in an amount not less than one percent (1%) and a 
maximum of ten percent (10%) of the participant's Compensation, with such amount 
designated in integral multiples of one percent (1%); provided, however, that 
the aggregate of such payroll deductions during any Offering Period shall not 
exceed ten percent (10%) of the participant's aggregate Compensation during such 
Offering Period. 
 
          (b)  All payroll deductions made for a participant shall be credited 
to his or her account under the Plan and shall be withheld in whole percentages 
only. A participant may not make any additional payments into such account. 
 
          (c)  A participant may increase the rate of his or her payroll 
deductions at the beginning of each Offering Period. Such increase shall take 
effect with the first payroll following the beginning of the new Offering 
Period. A participant may decrease the rate of his or her payroll deductions 
each month, provided that any decrease shall become effective with the first 
payroll of the next calendar month. Participants may discontinue his or her 
participation in the Plan during the Offering Period, provided the 
discontinuation of participation in the Plan shall occur at least ten (10) 
business days prior to the next Enrollment Date. A participant must complete and 
file with the Company's stock administrator a new subscription agreement 
authorizing a change in payroll deduction rate. The Board may, in its 
discretion, limit the number of participation rate changes during any Offering 
Period. The change in rate shall be effective with the first full applicable 
payroll period following the Company's receipt of the new subscription 
agreement. A participant's subscription agreement shall remain in effect for 
successive Offering Periods unless terminated as provided in Section 10 hereof. 
 
          (d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent necessary to comply 
with Section 423(b)(8) of the Code and Section 3(b) hereof, a participant's 
payroll deductions may be decreased to zero percent (0%) at any time during a 
Purchase Period. Payroll deductions shall recommence at the rate provided in 
such participant's 
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subscription agreement at the beginning of the first Purchase Period which is 
scheduled to end in the following calendar year, unless terminated by the 
participant as provided in Section 10 hereof. 
 
          (e)  At the time the option is exercised, in whole or in part, or at 
the time some or all of the Common Stock issued under the Plan is disposed of, 
the participant must make adequate provision for the Company's federal, state, 
or other tax withholding obligations, if any, which arise upon the exercise of 
the option or the disposition of the Common Stock. At any time, the Company may, 
but shall not be obligated to, withhold from the participant's compensation the 
amount necessary for the Company to meet applicable withholding obligations, 
including any withholding required to make available to the Company any tax 
deductions or benefits attributable to sale or early disposition of Common Stock 
by the Employee. 
 
     7.   Grant of Option.  On the Enrollment Date of each Offering Period, each 
          --------------- 
eligible Employee participating in such Offering Period shall be granted an 
option to purchase on each Exercise Date during such Offering Period (at the 
applicable Purchase Price) up to a number of shares of Common Stock determined 
by dividing such Employee's payroll deductions accumulated prior to such 
Exercise Date and retained in the Participant's account as of the Exercise Date 
by the applicable Purchase Price; provided that in no event shall an Employee be 
permitted to purchase during each Purchase Period more than eight thousand 
(8,000) shares of Common Stock (subject to any adjustment pursuant to Section 
18) on the Enrollment Date, and provided further that such purchase shall be 
subject to the limitations set forth in Sections 3(b) and 12 hereof. Exercise of 
the option shall occur as provided in Section 8 hereof, unless the participant 
has withdrawn pursuant to Section 10 hereof. The option shall expire on the last 
day of the Offering Period. 
 
     8.   Exercise of Option. Unless a participant withdraws from the Plan as 
          ------------------ 
provided in Section 10 hereof, his or her option for the purchase of shares of 
Common Stock shall be exercised automatically on the Exercise Date, and the 
maximum number of full shares of Common Stock subject to option shall be 
purchased for such participant at the applicable Purchase Price with the 
accumulated payroll deductions in his or her account. No fractional shares shall 
be purchased; any payroll deductions accumulated in a participant's account 
which are not sufficient to purchase a full share shall be retained in the 
participant's account for the subsequent Purchase Period or Offering Period, 
subject to earlier withdrawal by the participant as provided in Section 10 
hereof. Any other monies left over in a participant's account after the Exercise 
Date shall be returned to the participant. During a participant's lifetime, a 
participant's option to purchase shares hereunder is exercisable only by him or 
her. 
 
     9.   Delivery.  As promptly as practicable after each Exercise Date on 
          -------- 
which a purchase of shares occurs, a share certificate or certificates 
representing the number of shares of Common Stock so purchased shall be 
delivered to a brokerage account designated by the Company and kept in such 
account pursuant to a subscription agreement between each participant and the 
Company and subject to the conditions described therein which may include a 
requirement that shares be held and not sold for 
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certain time periods, or the Company shall establish some other means for such 
participants to receive ownership of the shares. 
 
     10.  Withdrawal. 
          ---------- 
 
          (a)  A participant may withdraw all but not less than all the payroll 
deductions credited to his or her account and not yet used to exercise his or 
her option under the Plan at any time by giving written notice to the Company in 
the form of Exhibit B to this Plan. All of the participant's payroll deductions 
credited to his or her account shall be paid to such participant promptly after 
receipt of notice of withdrawal and such participant's option for the Offering 
Period shall be automatically terminated, and no further payroll deductions for 
the purchase of shares shall be made for such Offering Period. If a participant 
withdraws from an Offering Period, payroll deductions shall not resume at the 
beginning of the succeeding Offering Period unless the participant delivers to 
the Company a new subscription agreement. 
 
          (b)  A participant's withdrawal from an Offering Period shall not have 
any effect upon his or her eligibility to participate in any similar plan which 
may hereafter be adopted by the Company or in succeeding Offering Periods which 
commence after the termination of the Offering Period from which the participant 
withdraws. 
 
     11.  Termination of Employment. 
          ------------------------- 
 
          Upon a participant's ceasing to be an Employee, for any reason, he or 
she shall be deemed to have elected to withdraw from the Plan and the payroll 
deductions credited to such participant's account during the Offering Period but 
not yet used to exercise the option shall be returned to such participant or, in 
the case of his or her death, to the person or persons entitled thereto under 
Section 15 hereof, and such participant's option shall be automatically 
terminated.  The preceding sentence notwithstanding, a participant who receives 
payment in lieu of notice of termination of employment shall be treated as 
continuing to be an Employee for the participant's customary number of hours per 
week of employment during the period in which the participant is subject to such 
payment in lieu of notice. 
 
     12.  Interest. 
          -------- 
 
          No interest shall accrue on the payroll deductions of a participant in 
the Plan. 
 
     13.  Stock. 
          ----- 
 
          (a)  The maximum number of shares of Common Stock that shall be made 
available for sale under the Plan shall be one million two hundred thousand 
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(1,200,000) shares* (which reflects 100% stock dividends paid in November 1997 
and August 2000), subject to adjustment upon changes in capitalization of the 
Company as provided in Section 18 hereof. If, on a given Exercise Date, the 
number of shares with respect to which options are to be exercised exceeds the 
number of shares then available under the Plan, the Company shall make a pro 
rata allocation of the shares remaining available for purchase in as uniform a 
manner as shall be practicable and as it shall determine to be equitable. 
 
 
          (b)  The participant shall have no interest or voting right in shares 
covered by his option until such option has been exercised. 
 
          (c)  Shares purchased by a participant under the Plan shall be 
registered in the name of the participant or in the name of the participant and 
his or her spouse. 
 
     14.  Administration.  The Plan shall be administered by the Board or a 
          -------------- 
committee of members of the Board appointed by the Board. The Board or its 
committee shall have full and exclusive discretionary authority to construe, 
interpret and apply the terms of the Plan, to determine eligibility and to 
adjudicate all disputed claims filed under the Plan. Every finding, decision and 
determination made by the Board or its committee shall, to the full extent 
permitted by law, be final and binding upon all parties. 
 
     15.  Designation of Beneficiary. 
          -------------------------- 
 
          (a)  A participant may file a written designation of a beneficiary who 
is to receive any shares and cash, if any, from the participant's account under 
the Plan in the event of such participant's death subsequent to an Exercise Date 
on which the option is exercised but prior to delivery to such participant of 
such shares and cash. In addition, a participant may file a written designation 
of a beneficiary who is to receive any cash from the participant's account under 
the Plan in the event of such participant's death prior to exercise of the 
option. If a participant is married and the designated beneficiary is not the 
spouse, spousal consent shall be required for such designation to be effective. 
 
          (b)  Such designation of beneficiary may be changed by the participant 
at any time by written notice. In the event of the death of a participant and in 
the absence of a beneficiary validly designated under the Plan who is living at 
the time of such participant's death, the Company shall deliver such shares 
and/or cash to the executor or administrator of the estate of the participant, 
or if no such executor or administrator has been appointed (to the knowledge of 
the Company), the Company, in its discretion, may deliver such shares and/or 
cash to the spouse or to any one or more dependents or relatives of the 
participant, or if no spouse, dependent or relative is known to the Company, 
then to such other person as the Company may designate. 
 
     16.  Transferability.  Neither payroll deductions credited to a 
          --------------- 
participant's account nor any rights with regard to the exercise of an option or 
to receive shares under 
 
_______________________ 
* Subject to the approval of the Company's stockholders at the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders of the Company to be held on June 5, 2001, the maximum number of 
shares of Common Stock that shall be made available for sale under the Plan 
shall be one million six hundred thousand (1,600,000) shares. 
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the Plan may be assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed of in any 
way (other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution or as provided in 
Section 15 hereof) by the participant. Any such attempt at assignment, transfer, 
pledge or other disposition shall be without effect, except that the Company may 
treat such act as an election to withdraw funds from an Offering Period in 
accordance with Section 10 hereof. 
 
     17.  Use of Funds. All payroll deductions received or held by the Company 
          ------------ 
under the Plan may be used by the Company for any corporate purpose, and the 
Company shall not be obligated to segregate such payroll deductions. 
 
 
     18.  Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization, Dissolution, Liquidation, 
          --------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Merger or Asset Sale. 
- -------------------- 
 
          (a)  Changes in Capitalization. Subject to any required action by the 
               ------------------------- 
stockholders of the Company, the Reserves, the maximum number of shares each 
participant may purchase each Purchase Period (pursuant to Section 7), as well 
as the Purchase Price per share and the number of shares of Common Stock covered 
by each option under the Plan which has not yet been exercised shall be 
proportionately adjusted for any increase or decrease in the number of issued 
shares of Common Stock resulting from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock 
dividend, combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or any other 
increase or decrease in the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock 
effected without receipt of consideration by the Company; provided, however, 
that conversion of any convertible securities of the Company shall not be deemed 
to have been "effected without receipt of consideration." Such adjustment shall 
be made by the Board, whose determination in that respect shall be final, 
binding and conclusive. Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by the 
Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares 
of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall 
be made with respect to, the number or price of shares of Common Stock subject 
to an option. 
 
          (b)  Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed 
               -------------------------- 
dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Offering Periods shall terminate 
immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action, unless otherwise 
provided by the Board. 
 
          (c)  Merger or Asset Sale. In the event of a proposed sale of all or 
               -------------------- 
substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the merger of the Company 
with or into another corporation, limited liability company or other entity, the 
Plan shall terminate upon the date of the consummation of such transaction 
unless the plan of merger, consolidation or reorganization provides otherwise, 
and any Purchase Periods then in progress shall be shortened by setting a new 
Exercise Date (the "New Exercise Date") and any Offering Periods then in 
progress shall end on the New Exercise Date. The New Exercise Date shall be 
before the date of the Company's proposed sale or merger. The Board shall notify 
each participant in writing, at least ten (10) business days prior to the New 
Exercise Date, that the Exercise Date for the participant's option has been 
changed to the New Exercise Date and that the participant's option shall be 
exercised 
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automatically on the New Exercise Date, unless prior to such date the 
participant has withdrawn from the Offering Period as provided in Section 10 
hereof. The Plan shall in no event be construed to restrict the Company's right 
to undertake any liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation or other 
reorganization. 
 
     19.  Amendment or Termination. 
          ------------------------ 
 
          (a)  The Board of Directors of the Company may at any time and for any 
reason terminate or amend the Plan. Except as provided in Section 18 hereof, no 
such termination can affect options previously granted, provided that an 
Offering Period may be terminated by the Board of Directors on any Exercise Date 
if the Board determines that the termination of the Plan is in the best 
interests of the Company and its stockholders. Except as provided in Section 18 
hereof, no amendment may make any change in any option theretofore granted which 
adversely affects the rights of any participant. To the extent necessary to 
comply with Section 423 of the Code (or any successor rule or provision or any 
other applicable law, regulation or stock exchange rule), the Company shall 
obtain stockholder approval in such a manner and to such a degree as required. 
 
          (b)  Without stockholder consent and without regard to whether any 
participant rights may be considered to have been "adversely affected," the 
Board (or its committee) shall be entitled to change the Offering Periods, limit 
the frequency and/or number of changes in the amount withheld during an Offering 
Period, establish the exchange ratio applicable to amounts withheld in a 
currency other than U.S. dollars, permit payroll withholding in excess of the 
amount designated by a participant in order to adjust for delays or mistakes in 
the Company's processing of properly completed withholding elections, establish 
reasonable waiting and adjustment periods and/or accounting and crediting 
procedures to ensure that amounts applied toward the purchase of Common Stock 
for each participant properly correspond with amounts withheld from the 
participant's Compensation, and establish such other limitations or procedures 
as the Board (or its committee) determines in its sole discretion advisable 
which are consistent with the Plan. 
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     20.  Notices. All notices or other communications by a participant to the 
          ------- 
Company under or in connection with the Plan shall be deemed to have been duly 
given when received in the form specified by the Company at the location, or by 
the person, designated by the Company for the receipt thereof. 
 
     21.  Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares. Shares shall not be issued with 
          ---------------------------------- 
respect to an option unless the exercise of such option and the issuance and 
delivery of such shares pursuant thereto shall comply with all applicable 
provisions of law, domestic or foreign, including, without limitation, the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the requirements 
of any stock market or stock exchange upon which the shares may then be listed, 
and shall be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with 
respect to such compliance. 
 
          As a condition to the exercise of an option, the Company may require 
the person exercising such option to represent and warrant at the time of any 
such exercise that the shares are being purchased only for investment and 
without any present intention to sell or distribute such shares if, in the 
opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required by any of 
the aforementioned applicable provisions of law. 
 
     22.  Term of Plan. The Plan, as amended and restated, shall become 
          ------------ 
effective upon the Effective Date. It shall continue until February 27, 2007 
unless sooner terminated under Section 19 hereof. 
 
     23.  Automatic Transfer to Low Price Offering Period. To the extent 
          ----------------------------------------------- 
permitted by any applicable laws, regulations, or stock exchange rules, if the 
Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on any Exercise Date in an Offering Period 
is lower than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the Enrollment Date 
of such Offering Period, then all participants in such Offering Period shall be 
automatically withdrawn from such Offering Period immediately after the exercise 
of their option on such Exercise Date and automatically re-enrolled in the 
immediately following Offering Period as of the first day thereof. 
 
     24.  Execution. To record the amendment and restatement of the Plan by the 
          --------- 
Board of Directors as of the date written above, the Company has caused its 
authorized officer to execute the same. 
 
 
                                        INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
 
 
                                        By:  /s/ Roy A. Whitfield 
                                             ____________________________ 
 
                                        Its: Chief Executive Officer 
                                             ____________________________ 
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                                   EXHIBIT A 
                                   --------- 
 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
                       1997 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
                            SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 
 
                                                Enrollment Date: _______________ 
 
____  Original Application 
 
____  Change in Payroll Deduction Rate (Effective Date:_________) 
 
____  Change of Beneficiary(ies) 
 
(1)  I, ___________________________ hereby elect to participate in the Incyte 
     Genomics, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Employee Stock 
     Purchase Plan") and subscribe to purchase shares of the Company's Common 
     Stock in accordance with this Subscription Agreement and the Employee Stock 
     Purchase Plan. 
 
(2)  I hereby authorize payroll deductions from each paycheck in the amount of 
     ___% of my Compensation (as defined in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan) on 
     each payday (from 1 to 10%) during the Offering Period in accordance with 
     the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  (Please note that no fractional 
     percentages are permitted.) 
 
(3)  I understand that these payroll deductions will be accumulated for the 
     purchase of shares of Common Stock at the applicable Purchase Price 
     determined in accordance with the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  I 
     understand that if I do not withdraw from an Offering Period, any 
     accumulated payroll deductions will be used to automatically exercise my 
     option to purchase shares. 
 
(4)  I have received a copy of the complete Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  I 
     understand that my participation in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan is in 
     all respects subject to the terms of such Plan.  I understand that my 
     ability to exercise the option under this Subscription Agreement is subject 
     to stockholder approval of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 
 
(5)  Shares purchased for me under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan should be 
     issued in the name(s) of (Employee or Employee and Spouse only) and 
     delivered to: 
 
     Name(s) ______________________________________________. 
 
     Delivery Instructions ________________________________ 
 
     ______________________________________________________. 
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(6)  I understand that if I dispose of any shares received by me pursuant to the 
     Plan within 2 years after the Enrollment Date (the first day of the 
     Offering Period during which I purchased such shares) or one year after the 
     Exercise Date. I will be treated for federal income tax purposes as having 
     received ordinary income at the time of such disposition in an amount equal 
     to the excess of the fair market value of the shares at the time such 
     shares were purchased by me over the price which I paid for the shares. I 
                                                                             - 
     hereby agree to notify the Company in writing within 30 days after the date 
     --------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
     of any disposition of my shares and I will make adequate provision for 
     ---------------------------------------------------------------------- 
     Federal, state or other tax withholding obligations, if any, which arise 
     ------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
     upon the disposition of the Common Stock.  The Company may, but will not be 
     ---------------------------------------- 
     obligated to, withhold from any compensation the amount necessary to meet 
     any applicable withholding obligation including any withholding necessary 
     to make available to the Company any tax deductions or benefits 
     attributable to sale or early disposition of Common Stock by me.  If I 
     dispose of such shares at any time after the expiration of the 2-year and 
     1-year holding periods, I understand that I will be treated for federal 
     income tax purposes as having received income only at the time of such 
     disposition, and that such income will be taxed as ordinary income only to 
     the extent of an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the excess of the fair 
     market value of the shares at the time of such disposition over the 
     purchase price which I paid for the shares; or (2) 15% of the fair market 
     value of the shares on the first day of the Offering Period.  The remainder 
     of the gain, if any, recognized on such disposition will be taxed as 
     capital gain. 
 
(7)  I hereby agree to be bound by the terms of the Employee Stock Purchase 
     Plan. The effectiveness of this Subscription Agreement is dependent upon my 
     eligibility to participate in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 
 
(8)  In the event of my death, I hereby designate the following as my 
     beneficiary(ies) to receive all payments and shares due me under the 
     Employee Stock Purchase Plan: 
 
NAME: (Please print) 
                    ___________________________________________________________ 
                              (First)          (Middle)          (Last) 
 
_______________________________                ________________________________ 
        (Relationship) 
 
                                               ________________________________ 
                                                           (Address) 
 
Employee's Social Security Number: ____________________________________________ 
 
Employee's Address:____________________________________________________________ 
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I UNDERSTAND THAT THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT SHALL REMAIN IN EFFECT THROUGHOUT 
SUCCESSIVE OFFERING PERIODS UNLESS TERMINATED BY ME. 
 
Dated: ____________________________           _________________________________ 
                                                     Signature of Employee 
 
 
                                              _________________________________ 
                                                      Spouse's Signature 
                                              (If beneficiary other than spouse) 
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                                   EXHIBIT B 
                                   --------- 
 
                             INCYTE GENOMICS, INC. 
 
                       1997 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
 
                              NOTICE OF WITHDRAWAL 
 
          The undersigned participant in the Offering Period of the Incyte 
Genomics, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan which began on ____________, 
20____ (the "Enrollment Date") hereby notifies the Company that he or she hereby 
withdraws from the Offering Period.  He or she hereby directs the Company to pay 
to the undersigned as promptly as practicable all the payroll deductions 
credited to his or her account with respect to such Offering Period. The 
undersigned understands and agrees that his or her option for such Offering 
Period will be automatically terminated.  The undersigned understands further 
that no further payroll deductions will be made for the purchase of shares in 
the current Offering Period and the undersigned shall be eligible to participate 
in succeeding Offering Periods only by delivering to the Company a new 
Subscription Agreement. 
 
 
                                             Name and Address of Participant: 
 
 
                                             ________________________________ 
 
                                             ________________________________ 
 
                                             ________________________________ 
 
                                             Signature: 
 
                                             ________________________________ 
 
                                             Date:___________________________ 
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